
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Norfolk Division 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA   )     UNDER SEAL   
       )    
  v.      )     CRIMINAL NO. 2:18-cr-______ 
       )   
ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO,   )     21 U.S.C. ' 846 
  (Counts 1, 2, 44, 46-48, 91-95)   )     Conspiracy to Distribute and Possess with  
       ) Intent to Distribute Cocaine, Cocaine Base 
JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO,   ) Heroin and Marijuana 
   a/k/a “Tuna,”     )  (Count 1) 
  (Counts 1, 2, 25-26, 45-48, 56-58, 88, 91-95) )  
        ) 18 U.S.C. '' 1956 (a)(1) and (h) 
REGINALD SAM BEALE,    )   Conspiracy to Launder Money 
   a/k/a “Pootie”     )  (Count 2) 
  (Counts 1, 3, 4, 7, 11, 62, 89)   ) 
       ) 18 U.S.C. ' 1956(a) and 18 U.S.C. ' 2 
MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES,   ) Money Laundering 
 a/k/a “Reese”     )  (Counts 8-10, 12, 13, 18) 
  (Counts 1, 5, 6, 17, 22, 28, 31, 32, 38, 59-81, ) 
    83, 85, 87, 89)     )      

) 21 U.S.C. ' 841(a)(1) and 18 U.S.C. ' 2 
BRANDON JAAMI WILLIAMS,   ) Distribute and Possess With Intent to  
 a/k/a “B-Will”     ) Distribute Cocaine, Cocaine Base, Heroin 
  (Counts 1, 34, 35, 37, 39-42, 49, 50, 65, 82) )  (Counts 3-7, 11, 14-17, 21-24, 27-43, 48) 
       ) 
BREON LASHAWN DIXON,   ) 18 U.S.C. ' 924(c)   
 a/k/a “Big Bre”    ) Possession of a Firearm in Furtherance of  
  (Counts 1, 14-16)     ) Drug Trafficking  

 )   (Count 49)  
KERRY JAY DARDEN,    ) 

a/k/a “Lil’ Jay”)    ) 18 U.S.C. '' 922(g) and 924(a)(2)  
(Counts 1, 2, 8-10, 12, 13, 18-20, 51-55)  ) Felon in Possession of a Firearm  
  )   (Count 50) 

JOHNELL DESHAWN STEPNEY,   )  
  (Counts 1, 21, 23-24, 27, 29, 30, 33, 36)  )  18 U.S.C. ' 1952(a)(3) and 18 U.S.C. ' 2 
         ) Interstate Travel in Aid of Racketeering 
MAURICE WILLIAMS,     )   (Counts 19, 20, 25, 26, 44-47) 
  (Counts 1, 43, 82, 84, 86, 87, 90)   )  
       ) 21 U.S.C. ' 843(b) and 18 U.S.C. ' 2 
    Defendants.  ) Use of a Communication Facility in  

) Furtherance of Drug Trafficking     
)   (Counts 51-95) 
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) 21 U.S.C. ' 853, 18 U.S.C. ' 924(d)(1) & 
) 28 U.S.C. ' 2461(c) 
) Forfeiture Allegation 

        )   
     

INDICTMENT 
 

 October 2018 Term, at Norfolk, Virginia 
 

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT: 
 

COUNT ONE 
 

From in or about 2009, the exact date being unknown to the Grand Jury, and continuously 

thereafter up to and including the date of this indictment, within the Eastern District of Virginia and 

elsewhere, ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO, JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO (a/k/a/ “Tuna”), 

REGINALD SAM BEALE (a/k/a “Pootie”), MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (a/k/a “Reese”), 

BRANDON JAAMI WILLIAMS (a/k/a “B-Will”), BREON LASHAWN DIXON (a/k/a “Big Bre”), 

KERRY JAY DARDEN (a/k/a “Lil Jay”), JOHNELL DESHAWN STEPNEY, and MAURICE 

WILLIAMS, the defendants herein, did unlawfully, knowingly, and intentionally combine, conspire, 

confederate and agree with each other and with other persons both known and unknown to the Grand 

Jury to commit one or more of the following offenses against the United States: 

1.  To knowingly, intentionally and unlawfully distribute and possess with the intent to 

distribute a quantity of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule 

II narcotic controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(1).  The 

quantity of cocaine involved in the conspiracy is: 

(a)  with respect to defendants ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO, JOSE MOICES LUNA-

ABREGO, REGINALD SAM BEALE, MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES, BRANDON 

JAAMI WILLIAMS, BREON LASHAWN DIXON, KERRY JAY DARDEN and 

MAURICE WILLIAMS, the amount of cocaine involved in the conspiracy attributable 
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to each of them as a result of their own conduct, and the conduct of other conspirators 

reasonably foreseeable to each of them, is five (5) kilograms or more of a mixture and 

substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, in violation of Title 21, United 

States Code, Section 841(b)(1)(A)(ii); and 

2.  To knowingly, intentionally and unlawfully distribute and possess with the intent to 

distribute a quantity of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, 

commonly known as “crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance, in violation of Title 

21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(1). The quantity of cocaine base (“crack cocaine”) involved in 

the conspiracy is: 

(a)  with respect to defendants BRANDON JAAMI WILLIAMS and BREON LASHAWN 

DIXON, the amount of cocaine base, commonly known as “crack cocaine,” involved in 

the conspiracy attributable to each of them as a result of his own conduct, and the 

conduct of other conspirators reasonably foreseeable to him is two-hundred-and eighty 

(280) grams or more of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of 

cocaine base, commonly , in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 

841(b)(1)(A)(ii); 

(b)  With respect to defendants MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES and JOHNELL 

DESHAWN STEPNEY, the amount involved in the conspiracy attributable to each of 

them as a result of their own conduct, and the conduct of other conspirators reasonably 

foreseeable to each of them is twenty-eight (28) grams or more of a mixture and 

substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base (“crack cocaine”), in violation 

of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(b)(1)(B)(iii); 

3.  To knowingly, intentionally and unlawfully distribute and possess with intent to distribute a 

quantity of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I narcotic 

controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(1). The quantity of 
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heroin involved in the conspiracy is: 

(a) With respect to defendants REGINALD SAM BEALE, MAURICE ANTONIO 

BARNES, and BRANDON JAAMI WILLIAMS, the amount of heroin involved in the 

conspiracy attributable to each of them as a result of his own conduct, and the conduct 

of other conspirators reasonably foreseeable to him is one (1) kilogram or more of a 

mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of heroin, in violation of Title 21, 

United States Code, Section 841(b)(1)(A)(i); 

(b) With respect to defendant BREON LASHAWN DIXON, the amount of heroin involved 

in the conspiracy attributable to each of them as a result of his own conduct, and the 

conduct of other conspirators reasonably foreseeable to each of them, is less than one-

hundred (100) grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of 

heroin, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(b)(1)(B)(i); and 

 4. To knowingly, intentionally and unlawfully distribute and possess with the intent to 

distribute less than fifty (50) kilograms of marijuana, a Schedule I controlled substance, in violation of 

Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(D).   

WAYS, MANNER AND MEANS TO ACCOMPLISH THE CONSPIRACY 

The ways, manner and means by which this purpose was carried out included, but were not 

limited to the following: 

1.  It was further a part of the conspiracy that the defendants and unindicted co-conspirators 

distributed and possessed with the intent to distribute quantities of cocaine, cocaine base, and heroin in 

the Eastern District of Virginia, and elsewhere. 

2.  It was further a part of the conspiracy that the defendants and unindicted co-conspirators 

supplied and furnished cocaine, cocaine base, and heroin to each other and other conspirators on an 

“as-needed basis.” 
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3.  It was part of the conspiracy that the defendants and unindicted co-conspirators played 

different roles, took upon themselves different tasks and participated in the affairs of the conspiracy 

through various criminal acts. The defendants and unindicted co-conspirators made themselves and 

their services available at various times throughout the conspiracy and would participate in selected 

narcotics ventures on an “as needed” basis. 

4.  It was further a part of the conspiracy that the defendants and unindicted co-conspirators 

would purchase and receive cocaine from suppliers in Virginia, California, Texas, Florida, New Jersey, 

and elsewhere, and would arrange for the cocaine, crack cocaine and heroin to be transported to and 

within Virginia, using: (1) the United States Postal Service, FedEx and United Parcel Service, (2) 

commercial trucking companies and air freight forwarders, (3) hidden traps in privately owned 

vehicles, (4) rental vehicles, and (5) semi-trailers and trucks.  

5.  It was further a part of the conspiracy that the defendants and unindicted co-conspirators 

derived substantial gross receipts from their unlawful activities. 

6.   It was further a part of the conspiracy that the defendants and co-conspirators would and 

did utilize and attempt to utilize various locations such as storage units, hotel rooms, apartments, 

houses, and businesses to store, possess, cook and distribute cocaine, crack cocaine, heroin, and 

marijuana, and to meet to discuss previous and future narcotics transactions, including but not limited 

to the following: 

a)  Sewells Point Tire and Auto Repair, 3439 Sewells Point Road, Norfolk, Virginia; 

b)  Public Storage Unit #62 on Village Drive, Virginia Beach, Virginia; 

c)  Life Storage Unit #285, 1213 East Brambleton Avenue, Norfolk, Virginia; 

d)  ICON Apartments, #708, in the 200 block of East Main Street, Norfolk, Virginia; 

e)  Metro Apartments, #509 in the 400 block of Granby Street, Norfolk, Virginia; 

f)  Residence in 100 block of West 32nd Street, Norfolk; 
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g)  Residence in the 700 block of West 36th Street in Norfolk; 

h)  Ice cream truck; 

i)  Residence in the 3000 block of Nagle Street, Houston, Texas; 

j) “Wonderland” Marijuana Dispensary in the 100 block of West 17th Street, Los 
   Angeles, California; 
 
k)  “Green Dreams” Marijuana Dispensary in the 100 block of East 16th Street, Los 
    Angeles, California; 
 
l)  Hollywood Roosevelt Hotel, 7000 Hollywood Blvd., Hollywood, California; and 
 
m)  Loews Hotel, 1755 North Highland Avenue, Hollywood, California. 
 

7.  It was further a part of the conspiracy that the defendants and unindicted co-conspirators 

used telecommunications devices, in particular cellular telephones, to facilitate the day-to-day affairs 

of the conspiracy, including negotiating the prices for quantities of cocaine, crack cocaine, heroin and 

other narcotic controlled substances, to arrange for deliveries of such substances, and to further 

facilitate the commission of felony drug offenses. During the period of the conspiracy, and in 

furtherance thereof, MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES utilized, among other phones, a cellular 

telephone assigned telephone number (757) ***-7327 (also referred to as “Cell Phone #1”);  

MAURICE WILLIAMS utilized, among other phones, a cellular telephone assigned telephone number 

(410) ***-7241 (also referred to as “Cell Phone #2”), JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO utilized, 

among other phones, a cellular telephone assigned telephone number (323) ***-6082 (also referred to 

as “Cell Phone #3”) and a cellular telephone assigned telephone number (757) ***-1955 (also referred 

to as “Cell Phone #4”) and KERRY JAY DARDEN utilized, among other phones, a cellular telephone 

assigned telephone number (757) ***-0679 (also referred to as Cell Phone #5”). During the course of 

the conspiracy, various co-conspirators named herein, unindicted co-conspirators, narcotics customers, 

and others utilized the above-referenced phone numbers to order narcotics, sell narcotics, prepare 
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narcotics for further distribution, coordinate interstate travel for meetings, deliveries of narcotics, 

collection of narcotics debts, and otherwise facilitate narcotics trafficking amongst the members of the 

conspiracy. 

8.  It was further a part of the conspiracy that the defendants and unindicted co-conspirators 

used various methods to conceal the conspiracy and their unlawful drug activities, and to ensure the 

conspiracy=s continuing success, including but not limited to: 

a)   possessing and using weapons, including handguns; 
 

b)   causing large sums of cash, the proceeds of illegal narcotics sales, to be transported 
stored and hidden at various locations; 

 
c)  concealing large quantities of U.S. currency and narcotics in trucks and semi-trailers, 

rental cars, and in hidden traps in vehicles in order to transport both cash and narcotics 
to and from Houston, Texas, Plainfield, New Jersey, Los Angeles, California, Buffalo, 
New York and other source cities for narcotics; 

 
d)   causing rental apartments, hotel rooms, storage units, vehicles, and other assets to be 

leased or titled in the names of individuals other than the true owner/lessee to disguise 
the identity of the true owner/lessee and to avoid law enforcement scrutiny; and 

 
e)  creating false or “shell” businesses and corporations in order to create the appearance of 

  legitimate income for funds derived from the sale of illegal narcotics; 
 
(f) opening bank accounts at various banks, including Wells Fargo Bank, Naval Federal 

Credit Union, and other financial institutions in order to facilitate the movement of 
funds as payment for narcotics provided to each other amongst the members of 
conspiracy, to pay for travel related to the procurement and distribution of narcotics, 
and to exchange U.S. currency from small denominations into larger denominations to 
facilitate bulk cash smuggling and avoid law enforcement scrutiny; and 

 
(g) using stored value cards and prepaid gift cards. 
 

OVERT ACTS 

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accomplish one or more of the purposes thereof, at least 

one of the following overt acts, among others, was committed in the Eastern District of Virginia and 

elsewhere: 



 

 
8 

2009 

1.  In or about early 2009, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed an “eight-ball” (approximately 

3.5 grams) of cocaine base (“crack”) to Confidential Source #15 (“CS-15”) for $150 in the Ingleside 

neighborhood of Norfolk. Over the next several weeks, WILLIAMS distributed “eight-ball” quantities 

of crack cocaine to CS-15 on five additional occasions in the same manner. 

2. In or about the summer of 2009, Confidential Source #17 (“CS-17”) and BRANDON 

WILLIAMS ran into each other at the Jr. Market on Cromwell Road in Norfolk, and began discussing 

cocaine and heroin.  

3. In or about the summer of 2009, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed an “eight-ball” (1/8 

ounce) of heroin for $375 and ½ ounce of cocaine base (“crack”) for approximately $500 to CS-17 at 

an apartment on Seay Avenue in the Ingleside section of Norfolk.   

4. From in or about the summer of 2009 until November of 2011, CS-17 routinely purchased 

cocaine and heroin from BRANDON WILLIAMS in ounce and multiple-ounce quantities that totaled 

approximately ¼ kilogram (250 grams) of heroin and ½ kilogram (500 grams) of cocaine per week. 

The cocaine was purchased in both powder and crack cocaine form. WILLIAMS and CS-17 would 

often meet near the Citgo gas station on Ingleside Boulevard in Norfolk to conduct these transactions. 

5.  In or about the winter of 2009, BREON DIXON distributed ½ ounce of cocaine base 

(“crack”) to Confidential Source #18 (“CS-18”) for $500 at a residence in the Lindenwood/Villa 

Heights section of Norfolk. 

6. From in or about late 2009 up to approximately January of 2014, BREON DIXON 

distributed between one and two ounces of cocaine base (“crack”) to CS-18 for $1,000 per ounce on at 

least a weekly basis at a residence on Marne Avenue, and another residence in the Park Place Section 

of Norfolk. 
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2010 

7.  Confidential Source #14 (“CS-14”) met BREON DIXON in 2008 while they were 

incarcerated together. In early 2010, after CS-14 was released from incarceration, DIXON began to 

supply him with cocaine. 

8. In or about early 2010, BREON DIXON distributed ¼ ounce of powder cocaine to CS-14 for 

$400 at the Southern Terrace section of Chesapeake.   

9. In or about early 2010, BREON DIXON distributed ½ ounce of cocaine to CS-14 for $800 at 

a residence on Grady Street in Chesapeake. 

10. In or about early 2010, on two additional occasions, BREON DIXON distributed ½ ounce 

of cocaine for $800 with an extra ½ ounce “fronted” to CS-14 at the “LBJ” Apartment Complex in 

Chesapeake.  

2011  

11. In or about the spring of 2011, BRANDON WILLIAMS and another individual distributed 

70 grams of cocaine base (“crack”) to Confidential Source #19 (“CS-19”) for $400 in the Ingleside 

neighborhood of Norfolk. 

12. In or about the summer of 2011, REGINALD BEALE distributed 4 ounces of cocaine to 

CS-19 for $1,300 per ounce in the Ingleside neighborhood section of Norfolk. CS-19 paid for 2 

ounces, and BEALE “fronted” him an additional 2 ounces during this transaction. 

13. In or about the summer of 2011, REGINALD BEALE distributed 2 ounces of cocaine to 

CS-19 for $1,300 per ounce in the Ingleside neighborhood of Norfolk. 

14. In or about the fall of 2011, Confidential Source #16 (“CS-16”) was looking for a new 

source of supply for cocaine and discovered that REGINALD BEALE, whom he had known since 

childhood, was a possible source. CS-16 called unindicted co-conspirator #2 (“UCC-2”) who contacted 
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BEALE and ordered ½ kilogram of cocaine for $19,800. Later the same day, BRANDON WILLIAMS 

and REGINALD BEALE distributed ½ kilogram of cocaine to CS-16 at an apartment in the 400 block 

of Chapel Street in the Tidewater Park section of Norfolk.  

15.  In or about October of 2011, REGINALD BEALE and CS-16 met at the Palace on Plume 

nightclub and exchanged numbers for the purpose of dealing cocaine.   

16.  In or about October of 2011, REGINALD BEALE distributed 9 ounces of cocaine to CS-

16 at a residence on Newport Avenue behind DePaul Hospital in Norfolk for $1,075 per ounce 

($9,675). 

17. In or about late fall 2011, REGINALD BEALE distributed 17 ounces of cocaine to CS-16 

at an apartment in the 400 block of Chapel Street in the Tidewater Park section of Norfolk for $1,075 

per ounce ($18,275). 

18. Between approximately October of 2011 and May of 2012, REGINALD BEALE 

distributed between 7 ounces and ½ kilogram of cocaine to CS-16 every two days for $1,075 per 

ounce. The majority of these transactions occurred at a residence on Newport Avenue behind DePaul 

Hospital in Norfolk. 

19. In or about the winter of 2011, unindicted co-conspirator #3 (“UCC-3”) called CS-19 

looking to purchase ½ kilogram of powder cocaine. CS-19 contacted REGINALD BEALE who 

distributed the ½ kilogram to CS-19 for $20,000 at a residence in the Ingleside section of Norfolk. CS-

19 removed 63 grams of the cocaine (roughly 3.5 grams per ounce) and replaced it with an equal 

amount of cutting agent. He then sold the ½ kilogram to UCC-3 for $20,900 at an apartment in the 

Broad Creek Apartments in Norfolk the same day. 

20. In or about the winter of 2011, UCC-3 contacted CS-19 a second time requesting ½ 

kilogram of powder cocaine. CS-19 contacted REGINALD BEALE who then sent a third individual to 
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deliver the ½ kilogram to CS-19 for $20,000. Because UCC-3 complained about the quality of the 

previous ½ kilogram of cocaine, CS-19 only replaced 36 grams of cocaine (2 grams per ounce) with 

cutting agent on this occasion, before selling the ½ kilogram to UCC-3 for $20,900 at an apartment in 

the Broad Creek Apartments. 

 21. From in or about November of 2011 through January of 2012, BREON DIXON distributed 

“eight-balls” (3.5 grams) of cocaine base (“crack”) to CS-15 several times per month outside of a 

residence in the Digg’s Park section of Norfolk. 

2012 

22. In the spring of 2012, Confidential Source #12 (hereinafter “CS-12”) ran into REGINALD 

BEALE at the Feather & Fin Restaurant on Princess Anne Road in Norfolk. BEALE and CS-12 knew 

each other because they had been previously incarcerated together in state prison. CS-12 and BEALE 

exchanged phone numbers. Approximately one to two weeks later, CS-12 called BEALE to arrange the 

purchase of 2 ounces of powder cocaine for $2,800. Later that day, BEALE met CS-12 on Seay 

Avenue in the Ingleside section of Norfolk and distributed 2 ounces of cocaine to CS-12 in exchange 

for $2,800. CS-12 continued to purchase between two and four ounces of cocaine per week from 

BEALE until September 2012.  

23. In or about early 2012, UCC-3 called CS-19 looking to purchase 9 ounces (¼ kilogram) of 

powder cocaine. CS-19 contacted REGINALD BEALE who distributed the 9 ounces to CS-19 for 

$10,800 at a residence in the Ingleside section of Norfolk. CS-19 removed 18 grams of the cocaine (2 

grams per ounce) and replaced it with an equal amount of cutting agent. He then sold the 9 ounces to 

UCC-3 for $11,250 at an apartment in the Broad Creek Apartments in Norfolk the same day. 

24. In or about early 2012, UCC-3 called CS-19 looking to purchase ½ kilogram of powder 

cocaine. CS-19 contacted REGINALD BEALE who distributed the ½ kilogram to CS-19 for $20,000 
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at a residence in the Ingleside section of Norfolk. CS-19 removed 36 grams of the cocaine (2 grams per 

ounce) and replaced it with an equal amount of cutting agent. He then sold the ½ kilogram to UCC-3 

for $20,900 at an apartment in the Broad Creek Apartments in Norfolk. 

25. In or about early spring of 2012, on two occasions over the course of a month, UCC-3 

called CS-19 looking to purchase 9 ounces (¼ kilogram) of powder cocaine. CS-19 contacted 

REGINALD BEALE who distributed the 9 ounces to CS-19 for $10,800 at a residence in the Ingleside 

section of Norfolk, and CS-19 then sold the 9 ounces to UCC-3 for $11,250 at an apartment in the 

Broad Creek Apartments in Norfolk.  

26. In or about the summer of 2012, after one of their sources for cocaine, Clayton “PeeWee” 

Chapman, was murdered in Norfolk, REGINALD BEALE, MAURICE BARNES, and BREON 

DIXON began looking for a new source for obtaining cocaine.  

27. In or about the summer of 2012, BREON DIXON contacted Confidential Source #23 (“CS-

23”) about obtaining cocaine from CS-23’s source of supply. 

28. In or about the summer of 2012, CS-23 middle-manned a deal for ½ kilogram of cocaine 

from his source of supply which he distributed to BREON DIXON at the MacArthur Mall in Norfolk, 

for $21,000. 

29. From in or about the summer of 2012 up to the later 2014, BREON DIXON purchased ½ 

kilogram of cocaine from CS-23 (who middle-manned the deal between DIXON and CS-23’s source) 

approximately 3 to 4 times a week for $21,000. The majority of these transactions took place inside the 

parking lot or public restrooms at the MacArthur Mall in Norfolk. 

2013 

30.  In early 2013, Confidential Source #6 (“CS-6”) saw BREON DIXON at the Aqua Lounge 

night club in Virginia Beach. During the conversation, DIXON told CS-6 “everything was good” 
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meaning he had powder and crack cocaine available for sale.  

31.  In the spring of 2013, BREON DIXON saw CS-6 at the Broadway nightclub in Norfolk 

and offered to sell him powder cocaine for $1,300 per ounce. The next day, CS-6 called DIXON and 

ordered 2 ounces of powder cocaine for $2,600.  Later that day, DIXON met CS-6 outside the Feather 

& Fin restaurant on Tidewater Drive in Norfolk, and made the transaction in CS-6’s car. 

32.  In the spring of 2013, approximately two weeks after the transaction set forth in in the 

previous paragraph, BREON DIXON distributed 2 ounces of cocaine to CS-6 outside a residence on 

31st Street in Norfolk for $2,600. During the transaction, DIXON offered to sell CS-6 one ounce of 

heroin for $2,800 but CS-6 did not purchase it.     

33.  In the spring of 2013, approximately one week after the transaction set forth in the 

previous paragraph, BREON DIXON distributed 2 ounces of cocaine to CS-6 for $2,600 outside the 

Feather & Fin Restaurant on Tidewater Drive in Norfolk.  

34.  In or about 2013, REGINALD BEALE and BREON DIXON brought 6 kilograms of 

cocaine to BRANDON WILLIAMS’ apartment on West Little Creek Road in Norfolk in order to add 

cutting agents and recompress the kilograms of cocaine into a larger quantity. Once this process was 

completed, they divided the cocaine evenly and departed. 

35. In or about the summer of 2013, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed approximately 2 

ounces of cocaine to unindicted co-conspirator #4 (“UCC-4”) at a residence near the intersection of 

Seay Avenue and Scott Street in the Ingleside section of Norfolk. UCC-4 then cooked the powder 

cocaine into crack cocaine and distributed an “eight-ball” to CS-15 for resale. 

36. During the summer of 2013, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed between 2 and 4 ounces 

of a cocaine per week to UCC-4 at a residence near the corner of Seay Avenue and Scott Street in   

Ingleside section of Norfolk. UCC-4 would then cook the powder cocaine into crack cocaine and 
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distribute smaller amounts to CS-15 and others for re-sale. 

37. In or about July of 2013, MAURICE BARNES distributed an “eight-ball” (3.5 grams) of 

cocaine base (“crack”) for $150 and a ¼ ounce (7 grams) of “crack” for $250 to CS-15 at Sewells 

Point Tire and Auto, 3439 Sewells Point Road, in Norfolk. 

38.  In late September 2013, REGINALD BEALE and BRANDON WILLIAMS saw CS-6 at a 

night club in Virginia Beach. During their conversation, BEALE offered to sell 9 ounces of powder 

cocaine to CS-6 for $1,110 per ounce, however if CS-6 purchased less than 9 ounces, the price would 

increase. BEALE told CS-6 to get his phone number from WILLIAMS.  

39.  In late September of 2013, CS-6 called WILLIAMS for REGINALD BEALE’s phone 

number. WILLIAMS refused to provide BEALE’s number and instead, offered to sell CS-6 one ounce 

of cocaine for $1,200. CS-6 met WILLIAMS outside a residence on Scott Street in Norfolk, but did not 

like the quality of the cocaine. The following day, WILLIAMS contacted CS-6 about new cocaine he 

had obtained from BEALE and offered to sell it. CS-6 purchased one ounce of cocaine from 

WILLIAMS for $1200. 

40. In or about the fall of 2013, REGINALD BEALE and MAURICE BARNES attempted to 

cut BREON DIXON out of the ½ kilogram of cocaine deals he had been making routinely with CS-23, 

by approaching CS-23 at the designated meeting spot in MacArthur Mall without DIXON being 

present. During this meeting, REGINALD BEALE told CS-23 that the previous ½ kilo cocaine 

purchases made by DIXON had been conducted with BEALE’s money. CS-23 declined to deal 

directly with BEALE and BARNES out of loyalty to DIXON. 

41. In or about late 2013, MAURICE BARNES distributed an “eight-ball” (3.5 grams) of 

cocaine base (“crack”) for $150 and a ¼ ounce (7 grams) of “crack” for $250 to CS-15 at Sewells 

Point Tire and Auto, 3439 Sewells Point Road, in Norfolk. 



 

 
15 

2014 

 42.  In or about January of 2014, REGINALD BEALE contacted Confidential Source #5 

(“CS-5”) and inquired about CS-5’s source of supply for heroin in New Jersey. Thereafter, BEALE 

gave CS-5 $10,000 to purchase 100 grams of heroin, and traveled with CS-5 to Plainfield, New Jersey 

to conduct the transaction. During this trip, BEALE did not meet directly with CS-5’s source of 

supply, unindicted co-conspirator #1 (“UCC-1”). 

 43.  In or about late January of 2014, REGINALD BEALE and MAURICE BARNES ordered 

500 grams of heroin for $50,000 from UCC-1 through CS-5, and traveled to Plainfield, New Jersey, to 

conduct the transaction. On this occasion, UCC-1 sold 500 grams of heroin to BEALE and BARNES, 

and 100 grams of heroin to CS-5 for $100 per gram. BEALE, BARNES and CS-5 then drove back to 

Virginia with the heroin. 

 44. In or about February of 2014, REGINALD BEALE and MAURICE BARNES traveled 

with CS-5 to Plainfield, New Jersey and purchased 2 kilograms of heroin from UCC-1 for $200,000 

cash. UCC-1 provided CS-5 with an additional 100 grams of heroin for facilitating the transaction. 

BEALE, BARNES and CS-5 then drove back to Virginia with the heroin. 

45. In or about February 2014, Confidential Source #3 (“CS-3”) developed a Mexican source 

for cocaine with connections in North Carolina, and offered to supply REGINALD BEALE and 

MAURICE BARNES with kilogram-weight quantities. BEALE and BARNES met CS-3 at a residence 

on Glen Regis Way in Virginia Beach and inspected a ½ kilogram sample of cocaine, before paying 

CS-3 $40,000 cash for a whole kilogram. BEALE and BARNES took the first ½ kilogram with them, 

and CS-3 delivered the other ½ kilogram of cocaine to them later that day outside a residence on 31st 

Street in Norfolk. 
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46. In or about February, 2014, REGINALD BEALE contacted CS-3 and asked for a second 

kilogram of cocaine. CS-3 agreed to meet BEALE at the same residence on 31st Street in Norfolk 

where he sold BEALE the kilogram for $38,000 cash. 

47. From approximately March 2014 through August 2014, REGINALD BEALE purchased ½ 

to one kilogram of cocaine from CS-3 every two or three days for $38,000 to $42,000 per kilogram.  

The deals generally took place outside the residence on 31st Street in Norfolk. In total, CS-3 estimated 

that BEALE purchased approximately 20 kilograms of cocaine over this time period. 

48. In or about March of 2014, REGINALD BEALE and MAURICE BARNES traveled with 

CS-5 to Plainfield, New Jersey and purchased 4 kilograms of heroin from UCC-1 for $400,000 cash. 

UCC-1 provided CS-5 with an additional 200 grams of heroin for facilitating the transaction. BEALE, 

BARNES and CS-5 then drove back to Virginia with the heroin.  

49. In or about April of 2014, REGINALD BEALE and MAURICE BARNES traveled with 

CS-5 to Plainfield, New Jersey and purchased 4 kilograms of heroin from UCC-1 for $400,000 cash. 

UCC-1 provided CS-5 with an additional 200 grams of heroin for facilitating the transaction. BEALE, 

BARNES and CS-5 then drove back to Virginia with the heroin. 

50. In or about May/June of 2014, REGINALD BEALE and MAURICE BARNES traveled 

with CS-5 to Plainfield, New Jersey and purchased 4 kilograms of heroin from UCC-1 for $400,000 

cash. UCC-1 provided CS-5 with an additional 200 grams of heroin for facilitating the transaction. 

BEALE, BARNES and CS-5 then drove back to Virginia with the heroin. 

51. In or about June of 2014, REGINALD BEALE and MAURICE BARNES traveled with 

CS-5 to Plainfield, New Jersey and purchased 5 kilograms of heroin from UCC-1 for $500,000 cash. 

UCC-1 provided CS-5 with an additional 100 grams of heroin for facilitating the transaction. BEALE, 

BARNES and CS-5 then drove back to Virginia with the heroin. 
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52. In or about August of 2014, REGINALD BEALE purchased 1 kilogram of cocaine from 

CS-3 for approximately $38,000 outside a residence on 31st Street in Norfolk. 

53. During the late summer of 2014, except for periods when he was unable to provide cocaine, 

BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed between 2 and 4 ounces of a cocaine per week to UCC-4 at a 

residence near the corner of Seay Avenue and Scott Street in the Ingleside section of Norfolk. UCC-4 

would then cook the powder cocaine into crack cocaine and distribute smaller amounts to CS-15 and 

others for re-sale. 

54.  In or about September, 2014, CS-6 saw REGINALD BEALE and BRANDON 

WILLIAMS at a night club in Virginia Beach. During their conversation, BEALE offered to sell CS-6 

one kilogram of cocaine for $36,000 and provided CS-6 with his phone number. CS-6 never contacted 

BEALE to make the purchase.     

55. In or about September of 2014, CS-12 ran into REGINALD BEALE at a Subway restaurant 

near MacDonald Manor in Chesapeake. BEALE told CS-12 he had “work” (meaning narcotics) and 

told CS-12 to call him. They exchanged phone numbers and later that week, CS-12 collected money 

from several other individuals and called BEALE to order 6 ounces of powder cocaine for $1,350 per 

ounce. BEALE and CS-12 later met at a Shell gas station by Military Circle Mall in Norfolk where 

BEALE provided 6 ounces of cocaine in exchange for $8,100 cash.   

56. In or about late September of 2014, approximately one week after the transaction described 

in the previous paragraph, REGINALD BEALE distributed an additional 4 ounces of cocaine to CS-12 

for $1,350 per ounce at a location in Norfolk.  

57.  In or about October of 2014, outside a Shell gas station near Poplar Hall Drive in Norfolk, 

BRANDON WILLIAMS showed CS-17 a quantity of heroin, which he referred to as “dog food,” and 

told CS-17 to call him if he was interested in purchasing any. 
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58.  In or about October of 2014, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed two “8-balls” (1/8 

ounce) of heroin for $325 each, approximately ½ ounce of powder cocaine for $500, and ½ ounce of 

cocaine base (“crack”) for $400 to CS-17 outside a Citgo gas station near the intersection of Virginia 

Beach Boulevard and Ingleside Road in Norfolk.  

59. In or about October of 2014, BREON DIXON distributed 3 ounces of cocaine base 

(“crack”) and a half-bag of liquid morphine to CS-17 at an apartment in Grandy Park. 

60. In or about late October of 2014, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed 1 ounce of heroin,  a 

quantity of morphine, a quantity of cocaine, and a quantity of cocaine base (“crack”) to CS-17 on Seay 

Avenue in Norfolk.  

61.  From in or about October of 2014 through April of 2015, except for periods when he was 

unable to supply cocaine, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed to CS-17 on average 9 ounces of heroin 

per week, 7 ounces of powder cocaine per week, and 5 ounces of cocaine base (“crack”) per week. 

WILLIAMS charged CS-17 $2,150 per ounce for heroin, $1,250 per ounce for powder cocaine and 

$1,000 per ounce for crack cocaine. WILLIAMS and CS-17 met at various locations in Norfolk to 

conduct the transactions including the Citgo gas station near Ingleside, a brick convenience store on 

Seay Avenue, the Feather and Fin on Princess Anne Road, and the Waffle House on Virginia Beach 

Boulevard. 

62. From in or about October of 2014 through April of 2015, BREON DIXON distributed 

approximately 1/8 ounce of heroin and 3 ounces of cocaine base (“crack”) per week to CS-17 at an 

apartment in the Grandy Park section of Norfolk. 

2015 

63. In or about early 2015, Confidential Source #13 (hereinafter “CS-13”) began purchasing 

powder cocaine from MAURICE BARNES as a secondary source to supplement his primary source of 
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supply. From early 2015 until March of 2017, BARNES distributed 2 ounces of powder cocaine to CS-

13 four to five times per month for $1,350 per ounce at various locations in Norfolk, generally in the 

Park Place section.   

64. In or about January/February of 2015, BRANDON WILLIAMS possessed with intent to 

distribute 1 kilogram of cocaine at a residence on Harrell Street in Norfolk.  

65. In or about the second week of March of 2015, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed 1 

ounce of heroin, 1 ounce of cocaine powder, and 21 grams of cocaine base (“crack”) to CS-17 at the 

Waffle House on Virginia Beach Boulevard in Norfolk. 

66. In or about March of 2015, CS-12 saw REGINALD BEALE and BREON DIXON at the 

MacArthur Center Mall in Norfolk. When CS-12 attempted to speak with BEALE about cocaine, 

DIXON stepped in front of BEALE as if to protect or prevent CS-12 from talking to him.  BEALE 

instructed DIXON to give CS-12 his (DIXON’s) phone number. A few days later, CS-12 contacted 

DIXON to purchase two ounces of cocaine for $1,400 per ounce. CS-12 and DIXON later met at a 

location behind Grandy Park where DIXON distributed 2 ounces of cocaine to CS-12 in exchange for 

$2,800 cash. 

67. In or about March of 2015, BREON DIXON distributed 3.5 grams of heroin, ½ ounce of 

cocaine base (“crack”), and a quantity of liquid morphine to CS-17 at an apartment in the Grandy Park 

section of Norfolk. 

68. On or about April 22, 2015, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed 58 grams of heroin, 1 

ounce of morphine and 1 ounce of fentanyl to CS-17 near the Ingleside section of Norfolk. 

69. In or about April of 2015, Confidential Source #11 (“CS-11”) met REGINALD BEALE at 

MacArthur Mall in Norfolk. CS-11 and BEALE had known each other since 2000, when they bought 

and sold cocaine together in the Ingleside section of Norfolk. CS-11 and BEALE discussed cocaine 
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and the 2-door Maserati that BEALE was driving. BEALE invited CS-11 to a party, but CS-11 did not 

attend. 

70.  In or about April of 2015, at Mermaids nightclub in Virginia Beach, BREON DIXON 

offered to sell CS-6 cocaine for $1,350 per ounce. 

71.  In or about April of 2015, BREON DIXON distributed approximately 3 ounces of cocaine 

to CS-6 for $2,700 outside a music shop on South Military Highway in Chesapeake. Later the same 

day, DIXON distributed an additional four ounces of cocaine to CS-6 in the parking lot of Military 

Circle Mall in Norfolk for $5,400.   

72.  In or about April/May of 2015, after CS-23 was released from jail, REGINALD BEALE 

and MAURICE BARNES exchanged phone numbers with CS-23 at a cookout at Sewells Point Tire 

and Auto in Norfolk so that they could resume conducting narcotics transactions with each other.  

While there, BEALE told CS-23 he arranged for BREON DIXON to deliver 7 grams of heroin to CS-

23 as a “welcome home” gift. 

73. In or about April /May 2015, CS-11 saw REGINALD BEALE, MAURICE BARNES and 

BREON DIXON at an album release party for a rap artist in Virginia Beach. During the party, BEALE 

offered to sell 9 ounces of powder cocaine to CS-11 for $11,500 or ½ kilogram of cocaine for $21,000.   

74. In or about May of 2015, CS-11 called REGINALD BEALE and ordered 9 ounces of 

powder cocaine for $11,500. BEALE wanted to meet at Sewell’s Point Tire and Auto, but because CS-

11 was not comfortable meeting at that location, they met on Scott Street in Norfolk to make the 

transaction.  

75.  In or about May of 2015, BREON DIXON distributed 2 ounces of cocaine to CS-12 for 

$2,800 at a location in Norfolk. 
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76. During the summer of 2015, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed between 2 and 4 ounces 

of a cocaine per week to UCC-4 at a residence near the corner of Seay Avenue and Scott Street in the 

Ingleside section of Norfolk. UCC-4 would then cook the powder cocaine into crack cocaine and 

distribute smaller amounts to CS-15 and others for re-sale. 

77. In or about late 2015, Confidential Source #1 (“CS-1”) reestablished his relationship with 

REGINALD BEALE, after losing contact with him for several years. At that time, BEALE distributed 

½ kilogram of cocaine to CS-1 for $20,500 at an apartment on Baxter Road in Norfolk. 

 78. In or about late 2015, two weeks after the initial provision of cocaine, REGINALD BEALE 

distributed a second ½ kilogram of cocaine to CS-1 at an apartment on Baxter Road in Norfolk. 

 79. In or about late 2015, REGINALD BEALE “fronted” 9 ounces of cocaine and 1 ounce of 

heroin to CS-1 at an apartment on Baxter Road, in Norfolk. CS-1 then owed BEALE $9,000 for the 

cocaine and $3,000 for the heroin. 

80.  In or about late 2015, REGINALD BEALE drove a silver Mercedes SUV to meet CS-1 at 

a house on Alder Street in Norfolk to deliver an additional 9 ounces of cocaine and receive payment 

for the previously fronted 9 ounces of cocaine and 3 ounces of heroin. Once inside the Mercedes, 

BEALE directed CS-1 to put the $12,000 cash in the center console, but both the center console and 

the glove compartment were already so full of cash CS-1 had to forcefully stuff the additional money 

into the center console. 

81. In or about late 2015, REGINALD BEALE told CS-23 he had heroin available for sale. 

82.  From in or about late 2015 to early 2016, REGINALD BEALE distributed 2 ounces of 

heroin to CS-23 for $2,200 per ounce on a “front,” on 3 to 4 occasions. 

83. In or about November/December of 2015, REGINALD BEALE told Confidential Source 

#21 (“CS-21”) that he was currently in search of “good quality” cocaine. CS-21 told REGINALD 
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BEALE that he knew someone, unindicted co-conspirator #5 (“UCC-5”) who could supply kilogram 

amounts of cocaine because he had a source of supply in the Houston, Texas area. CS-21 agreed to 

contact UCC-5 about prices and availability of cocaine and relay that information to BEALE. 

 84. Between December of 2015 and August of 2016, REGINALD BEALE distributed 2 to 5 

kilograms of cocaine per month to CS-1 in 9-ounce to ½ kilogram quantities. On approximately four 

occasions during this time period, BEALE directed CS-1 to contact BREON DIXON to purchase 

cocaine in quantities ranging from 5 to 7 ounces. All of the transactions with DIXON occurred in the 

Grandy Park section of Norfolk.  

 85. Between December of 2015 and August of 2016, REGINALD BEALE distributed 1 ounce 

of heroin to CS-1 on four occasions for $3,000 per ounce at various locations in Norfolk. 

2016 

86. In or about early 2016, REGINALD BEALE told CS-23 he had large amounts of cocaine 

ready for distribution, and agreed to “front” it to CS-23. BEALE then distributed 12 ounces of cocaine 

to CS-23 for $1,200 per ounce ($14,400 total). 

87. In or about January/February of 2016, CS-21 “middle-manned” a deal for ½ kilogram of 

cocaine between UCC-5 and REGINALD BEALE for $17,000. Specifically, BEALE met CS-21 at the 

intersection of 36th Street and Colonial Avenue in the Park Place section of Norfolk and gave him 

$17,000. CS-21 then met UCC-5 at the Target parking lot at 1245 North Military Highway, paid for 

the ½ kilogram of cocaine, and delivered it to REGINALD BEALE at the same location in Park Place. 

BEALE paid CS-21 between $300 and $500 for facilitating the transaction. 

88. In or about March of 2016, MAURICE BARNES distributed approximately ¼ ounce (7 

grams) of cocaine base (“crack”) for $250 to CS-15 at Sewells Point Tire and Auto, 3439 Sewells 

Point Road, in Norfolk. 
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89. From in or about early 2016 to April 23, 2016, REGINALD BEALE “fronted” 12 ounces of 

cocaine to CS-23 for $14,400 on four occasions. 

90.  In the Spring of 2016, CS-2 was introduced to MAURICE BARNES for the purpose of 

purchasing cocaine. 

 91.  From approximately April of 2016 to February of 2017, MAURICE BARNES distributed 

½ ounce to ounce-quantities of cocaine to CS-2 weekly for $1,350 per ounce at various locations in 

Norfolk, except for a two-week period in September/October of 2016 when BARNES was 

apprehensive about law enforcement scrutiny.  

92. In or about May/June of 2016, CS-21 “middle-manned” a deal for 1 kilogram of cocaine 

between UCC-5 and REGINALD BEALE for $36,000. Specifically, BEALE met CS-21 in the parking 

lot of the Family Car Wash, 5007 East Princess Anne Road in Norfolk and gave him $36,000 cash. 

CS-21 then met UCC-5 at the Target parking lot at 1245 North Military Highway, paid for the 

kilogram of cocaine, and delivered it to REGINALD BEALE near the intersection of Campostella 

Road and Berkley Avenue in the Diggs Park section of Norfolk. BEALE paid CS-21 between $300 

and $500 for facilitating the transaction. 

93. In or about June of 2016, at a vacant home owned by REGINALD BEALE on Wilson 

Road, in Norfolk, CS-23 met with BEALE and BREON DIXON to “advertise” the excellent quality of 

cocaine CS-23 had recently obtained from a new source of supply in Philadelphia. During the meeting, 

BEALE directed BREON DIXON to take one ounce out of the kilogram of cocaine and cook it into 

crack cocaine to test its purity. CS-23 agreed to “front” the kilogram to REGINALD BEALE for 

$40,000, which BEALE paid several days later. 

94.  In or about June of 2016, several days after purchasing the first Philadelphia-sourced 

kilogram of cocaine from CS-23, REGINALD BEALE called CS-23 and ordered another kilogram of 
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cocaine for $40,000 which CS-23 delivered to BEALE and BREON DIXON at a house in the Grandy 

Park section of Norfolk. 

95. From in or about June through August of 2016, REGINALD BEALE and BREON DIXON 

purchased 2 kilograms of cocaine from CS-23 for $40,000 a piece 3 to 4 times per month at a house in 

the Grandy Park section of Norfolk.  

96. In or about July/August of 2016, UCC-5 told CS-21 that he had multiple kilograms of 

cocaine available for sale. CS-21 conveyed this information to REGINALD BEALE and shortly 

thereafter “middle-manned” a deal for 1 kilogram of cocaine between UCC-5 and REGINALD 

BEALE for $36,000. Specifically, BEALE met CS-21 at the Family Car Wash, 5007 East Princess 

Anne Road in Norfolk and gave him $36,000 cash. CS-21 then retrieved the kilogram of cocaine from 

UCC-5 and delivered it to REGINALD BEALE near the intersection of Campostella Road and Berkley 

Avenue in the Diggs Park section of Norfolk. BEALE paid CS-21 between $300 and $500 for 

facilitating the transaction. 

97. In or about July/August of 2016, REGINALD BEALE asked CS-21 for another kilogram of 

cocaine. Shortly thereafter, BEALE met CS-21 at the Family Car Wash on East Princess Anne Road in 

Norfolk and gave him $36,000 cash. CS-21 then retrieved the kilogram of cocaine from UCC-5 and 

delivered it to REGINALD BEALE near the intersection of Campostella Road and Berkley Avenue in 

the Diggs Park section of Norfolk. BEALE paid CS-21 between $300 and $500 for facilitating the 

transaction. 

98. In or about late August 2016, REGINALD BEALE distributed ½ kilogram of powder 

cocaine to CS-1 for $20,500 at a residence on Alder Street in Norfolk. 

99. On or about September 28, 2016, REGINALD BEALE received $5,000 cash from CS-1 in 

order to pay off a previous narcotics debt in the 1000 block of Holt Street in Norfolk. 
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100. In or about mid-October of 2016, MAURICE BARNES distributed approximately 2 

ounces of cocaine to CS-13 in Norfolk. 

 101. On or about November 14, 2016, REGINALD BEALE distributed approximately 105 

grams of cocaine to CS-1 for $6,000 cash at an apartment in the 900 block of Armfield Circle in 

Norfolk.  

 102. On or about December 6, 2016, REGINALD BEALE distributed approximately 103.89 

grams of cocaine to CS-1 for $6,000 cash at an apartment in the 900 block of Armfield Circle in 

Norfolk. 

 103. In late 2016, JOHNELL STEPNEY began distributing cocaine base (“crack”) to 

Confidential Source #22 (“CS-22”) in amounts ranging from 7 grams (¼ ounce) to 28 grams (1 ounce) 

which CS-22 would sell to other individuals. These transactions generally happened at STEPNEY’s 

mother’s residence in the Park Place section of Norfolk. 

2017 

104. In or about January/February of 2017, UCC-5 told CS-21 that he had multiple kilograms 

of cocaine available for sale, and offered to sell them for $34,500 per kilogram if the buyer bought two 

or more. CS-21 conveyed this information to REGINALD BEALE and shortly thereafter CS-21 

“middle-manned” a deal for 2 kilograms of cocaine between UCC-5 and REGINALD BEALE and 

MAURICE BARNES for $69,000. Specifically, BEALE and BARNES met CS-21 at Sewell’s Point 

Tire and Auto and paid him $69,000 cash. CS-21 then retrieved 2 kilograms from UCC-5 and 

delivered them to BEALE and BARNES at Sewells Point Tire and Auto. BEALE paid CS-21 between 

$300 and $500 for facilitating the transaction. 

105. On or about March 31, 2017, MAURICE BARNES distributed 55.65 grams of cocaine to 

CS-2 for $2,700 at Sewells Point Tire & Auto on Sewells Point Road in Norfolk. 
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 106.  On or about April 21, 2017, MAURICE BARNES distributed 55.04 grams of cocaine to 

CS-2, for $2,700 at Sewells Point Tire & Auto on Sewells Point Road in Norfolk. 

107. On or about April 24, 2017, REGINALD BEALE distributed approximately 124.08 grams 

of cocaine to CS-1 for $5,500 cash at an apartment in the 900 block of Armfield Circle in Norfolk.  

 108. On or about June 9, 2017, KERRY DARDEN opened four accounts at Navy Federal 

Credit Union (“NFCU”): personal checking account number **3396, personal savings account number 

**0636, business checking in the name of “Free Agent Nation” account number **8416, and business 

savings in the name of “Free Agent Nation” account number **9266, for the purpose of facilitating 

travel, future narcotics transactions, and laundering narcotics proceeds, among other things. DARDEN 

was the sole owner and authorized signor on the accounts. 

 109. On or about June 14, 2017, at approximately 9:39 a.m., KERRY DARDEN deposited 

$7,000 cash into account **0636 at NFCU branch #G7 and immediately withdrew the same amount in 

larger denominations. 

110. On or about June 14, 2017, at approximately 10:09 a.m., KERRY DARDEN deposited 

$4,000 cash into savings account **0636 at NFCU branch #G7 and immediately withdrew the same 

amount in larger denominations. 

 111. On or about June 14, 2017, at approximately 11:11 a.m., KERRY DARDEN deposited 

$6,100 cash into savings account **0636 at NFCU Lascara branch at 1530 International Boulevard, 

Norfolk, Virginia, and immediately withdrew the same amount in larger denominations. 

 112. On or about June 15, 2017, KERRY DARDEN traveled from Norfolk to Houston, Texas 

for the purpose of obtaining cocaine to be transported back to Virginia. 

 113. On or about June 19, 2017, KERRY DARDEN purchased a one-way ticket for $136 on 

Megabus for UCC-“AM” to travel from Houston, Texas to Richmond, Virginia with luggage that 
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contained a quantity of cocaine. DARDEN followed by a private vehicle.  

114. On or about June 20, 2017, KERRY DARDEN picked UCC-“AM” up at the bus station in 

Richmond, Virginia and drove him and luggage containing cocaine back to Norfolk. 

 115. On or about June 20, 2017, REGINALD BEALE agreed to sell 4 ounces of cocaine to CS-

1 on June 21, 2017. 

116.  On or about June 21, 2017, at approximately 4:25 p.m., REGINALD BEALE sent CS-1 

a text message that read, “OK going to get it now.” At 4:27 p.m., REGINALD BEALE and MAURICE 

BARNES met at Sewells Point Tire and Auto, and BEALE departed shortly thereafter in his 

champagne colored Mercedes SUV. 

117. On or about June 21, 2017, at approximately 5:30 p.m., REGINALD BEALE distributed 

approximately 92.43 grams of cocaine to CS-1 for $6,000 cash at an apartment in the 1100 block of 

Hughes Avenue in Chesapeake. During the deal, BEALE told CS-1 that he had ½ kilogram of cocaine 

ready to sell, and also bragged that he did not need to add cutting agent to his cocaine because he has 

“too much.” 

118. In or about July of 2017, JOHNEL STEPNEY distributed a quantity of cocaine base 

(“crack”) to CS-22 in Norfolk. 

119. On or about July 1, 2017, KERRY DARDEN deposited $2,200 cash into account **3396 

at NFCU Lascara branch, 1530 International Boulevard, Norfolk, Virginia. 

120. On or about July 2, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew on United Airlines from Norfolk to 

Houston, Texas for the purpose of obtaining cocaine to be transported back to Virginia, and used 

NFCU account number **3396 to pay $1,143 for the ticket. 

121. On or about July 3, 2017, KERRY DARDEN used NFCU account number **3396 to 

purchase a one-way ticket for $147 on Megabus for an individual to travel from Houston, Texas to 
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Richmond, Virginia with luggage that contained a quantity of cocaine. 

122. On or about July 4, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew on United Airlines from Houston, 

Texas to Norfolk to meet the individual traveling back from Houston, Texas by bus with cocaine. 

123. On or about July 14, 2017, KERRY DARDEN deposited $500 cash into account number 

**8416 at NFCU Lascara branch. 

124. On or about July 15, 2017, at approximately 11:23 a.m., KERRY DARDEN deposited 

$8,100 cash into account number **8416 at NFCU Lascara branch then withdrew $7,500 in cash from 

the same account at NFCU branch #G7 at 12:17 p.m. 

125. On or about July 17, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew on American Airlines from Norfolk to 

Houston, Texas for the purpose of obtaining cocaine and marijuana to be transported back to Virginia, 

using NFCU account number **3396 to pay $489 for the ticket. 

126. On or about July 17, 2017, KERRY DARDEN used NFCU account number **3396 to 

purchase a one-way ticket for $118 on Megabus for an unidentified unindicted co-conspirator to travel 

from Houston, Texas to Richmond, Virginia with luggage that contained a quantity of cocaine. 

127. On or about July 19, 2017 KERRY DARDEN flew on American Airlines from Houston, 

Texas to Norfolk, Virginia to meet the individual traveling back from Houston, Texas by bus with 

cocaine and marijuana for him, using NFCU account number **8416 to pay $347 for the ticket. 

128. On or about July 22, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew on American Airlines from Norfolk to 

Houston, Texas for the purpose of obtaining cocaine and marijuana to be transported back to Virginia 

using NFCU account number **8416 to pay $486 for the ticket. 

129. On or about July 26, 2017, KERRY DARDEN used NFCU account number **8416 to 

purchase a one-way Greyhound Bus ticket for $177.50 for an individual to travel by bus from Houston, 

Texas to Richmond, Virginia with luggage that contained a quantity of cocaine. 
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130. On or about July 26, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew from Houston, Texas to Norfolk 

Virginia to meet the individual traveling back from Houston, Texas by bus with cocaine for him. The 

$490 airline ticket was purchased using a Visa card issued to “AM.” 

131. On or about July 28, 2017, at approximately 2:20 p.m., KERRY DARDEN deposited $500 

cash into account number **3369 and $8,500 cash into account number **8416 at NFCU Lascara 

branch at 1530 International Boulevard, Norfolk, Virginia. On the same day at approximately 3:31 

p.m., DARDEN withdrew $8,500 cash from the same account at branch #G7. Also on the same day, 

KERRY DARDEN deposited an additional $500 cash into account number **8416 at the Lascara 

branch. 

132. On or about July 29, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew on Delta Airlines from Norfolk to 

Houston, Texas for the purpose of obtaining cocaine to be transported back to Virginia. 

133. On or about August 2, 2017, KERY DARDEN purchased one-way ticket for $146 on 

Megabus for UCC-“CB” to travel from Houston, Texas to Richmond, Virginia with luggage that 

contained a quantity of cocaine. 

134. On or about August 3, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew on Delta Airlines from Houston, 

Texas to Norfolk, Virginia. 

135. On or about August 15, 2017, KERRY DARDEN deposited $500 cash into account 

number **3369 and $1,300 cash into account number **8416 at NFCU Lascara branch at 1530 

International Boulevard, Norfolk, Virginia.  

136. On or about August 16, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew on Delta Airlines from Norfolk to 

Houston, Texas for the purpose of obtaining cocaine to be transported back to Virginia, using NFCU 

account number **8416 to pay $490 for the ticket. 
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137. On or about August 17, 2017, KERRY DARDEN used NFCU account number **8416 to 

purchase one-way ticket for $109 on Megabus for an individual to travel from Houston, Texas to 

Richmond, Virginia with luggage that contained a quantity of cocaine. 

138. On or about August 17-18, 2017, KERRY DARDEN traveled by car from Houston, Texas 

to Virginia stopping in Egan, Lousiana and Evergreen, Alabama along the way. 

139. On or about August 18, 2017, at approximately 6:59 a.m., KERRY DARDEN arranged for 

Uber to pick up an individual at or near the Richmond bus station, and deliver him/her with luggage 

containing cocaine and marijuana to the 3000 block of Montana Avenue in Norfolk, arriving at 

approximately 8:31 a.m. 

140. On or about September 12, 2017, BREON DIXON distributed approximately 1.91 grams 

of cocaine base (“crack”) to CS-7 in the Kimball Terrace/Grandy Park section of Norfolk. 

141. On or about September 14, 2017, KERRY DARDEN deposited $980 cash into account 

number **8416 at NFCU Lascara branch at 1530 International Boulevard, Norfolk, Virginia.  

142. On or about September 16, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew on American Airlines from 

Norfolk to Houston, Texas for the purpose of obtaining cocaine to be transported back to Virginia. 

143. On or about September 18, 2017, KERRY DARDEN used NFCU account number **8416 

to purchase a one-way ticket for $112 on Megabus for an unidentified individual to travel from 

Houston, Texas to Richmond, Virginia on September 19, 2017, with luggage that contained a quantity 

of cocaine. 

144. On or about September 19, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew on American Airlines from 

Houston, Texas to Norfolk to meet the individual traveling back from Houston, Texas by bus with 

cocaine for him. 

 



 

 
31 

145. On or about September 19, 2017, BREON DIXON distributed approximately 1.23 grams 

of cocaine base (“crack”) to CS-7 in the Kimball Terrace/Grandy Park section of Norfolk.  

146. On or about September 20, 2017, at approximately 12:35 p.m., KERRY DARDEN 

arranged for Uber to pick up an individual at or near the Richmond bus station, and deliver him/her 

with luggage containing cocaine to the 3200 block of Peronne Avenue in Norfolk, arriving at 2:06 p.m. 

147. On or about October 13, 2017, BREON DIXON distributed approximately 4.48 grams of 

cocaine base (“crack”) to CS-7 in the Kimball Terrace/Grandy Park section of Norfolk.  

148. On or about October 20, 2017, MAURICE BARNES distributed approximately 83.84 

grams of cocaine to CS-2 for $4,050 at Sewells Point Tire & Auto on Sewells Point Road in Norfolk. 

149. On or about October 20, 2017, at approximately 11:23 a.m., KERRY DARDEN deposited 

$600 cash into account **3396 and $700 cash into account number **8416 at NFCU Lascara branch at 

1530 International Boulevard in Norfolk. The same day, at approximately 4:55 p.m., DARDEN 

deposited $9,100 cash into savings account number **0636, then immediately withdrew the same 

amount in larger denominations.  

150. On or about October 21, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew on American airlines from 

Norfolk to Houston, Texas to coordinate the purchase of 6 kilograms of cocaine and its delivery to 

Norfolk.  

151. On or about October 24, 2017, KERRY DARDEN called Confidential Source #8 (“CS-8”) 

and asked him to fly to Houston, Texas and take a bus back to Richmond, Virginia with a piece of 

luggage provided by DARDEN. CS-8 agreed. 

152. On or about October 24, 2017, KERRY DARDEN purchased a one-way ticket in CS-8’s 

name, and arranged for an Uber drive CS-8 to Norfolk International Airport. At the airline ticket 

counter, CS-8 was unable to retrieve the ticket, and DARDEN arranged for an Uber to take CS-8 back 
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home, but told him to be ready to travel the following day.  

153. On or about October 25, 2017, KERRY DARDEN purchased a one way ticket on Delta 

Airlines for CS-8 to fly from Norfolk to Houston, Texas. The flight was scheduled to depart at 2:29 

p.m., so DARDEN, sent an Uber at 12:20 p.m. to take CS-8 to Norfolk International Airport, arriving 

at 12:37 p.m. 

154. On or about October 25, 2017, CS-8 flew from Norfolk to Houston, Texas to facilitate the 

transportation of 6 kilograms of cocaine from Texas to Virginia. Once CS-8 arrived in Houston, 

KERRY DARDEN sent an Uber at approximately 6:11 p.m. to take CS-8 from the airport to a 

residence in the 3000 block of Nagle Street in Houston, arriving at 6:46 p.m. 

155. On or about October 25, 2017, KERRY DARDEN used NFCU account number **3396 to 

purchase a one-way ticket for $112 on Megabus for CS-8 to travel from Houston, Texas to Richmond, 

Virginia. Shortly thereafter, DARDEN provided CS-8 with a black “Pelican” style case containing 

6.022 kilograms of cocaine, and drove to the bus station where CS-8 boarded the Megabus bound for 

Richmond, via New Orleans and Atlanta.  

156. On or about October 26, 2017, KERRY DARDEN sent CS-8 several texts using Cell 

Phone #5 to make sure CS-8 was en route to Virginia on the Megabus as planned. 

157. On or about October 26, 2017, at approximately 4:25 p.m., CS-8 sent a text to KERRY 

DARDEN on Cell Phone #5 that read: The. Bus. Got. Pull. Over. The. Cop. Making. Us. Go. To. 

Aplace. The. Dog. Was. Back. In. The. Luggage. 

158. On or about October 26, 2017, after the Megabus was pulled over for a traffic violation in 

Bay Minette, Alabama, Sheriff’s deputies seized 6.022 kilograms of cocaine from the black “Pelican” 

style case given to CS-8 by KERRY DARDEN. Shortly thereafter, DARDEN called CS-8 and 

instructed him to delete all text messages from his phone. DARDEN later called CS-8 from a new 
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telephone number and told CS-8 “not to say anything.” 

159. On or about October 26, 2017, KERRY DARDEN flew on Delta Airlines from Houston, 

Texas to Norfolk. 

160. On or about October 30, 2017, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO opened a checking account at 

Wells Fargo Bank in Los Angeles, California account number **9414 for the purpose of facilitating 

travel, future narcotics transactions, and laundering narcotics proceeds, among other things. LUNA-

ABREGO was the sole owner and authorized signor on the account. 

161. On or about November 6, 2017, CS-23 deposited or caused to be deposited $3,800 cash 

into JOSE LUNA-ABREGO’s Wells Fargo account number **9414 as a partial payment towards 

cocaine previously provided by LUNA-ABREGO and the California-based suppliers. LUNA-

ABREGO withdrew $3,973 from the same account at a Wells Fargo ATM in Los Angeles, California 

later the same day. 

162. On or about November 13, 2017, CS-23 deposited or caused to be deposited $4,000 cash 

into JOSE LUNA-ABREGO’s Wells Fargo account number **9414 as a partial payment towards 

cocaine previously provided by LUNA-ABREGO and the California-based suppliers. LUNA-

ABREGO withdrew $3,973 from the same account at a Wells Fargo ATM in Los Angeles, California 

later the same day. 

163. On or about November 27, 2017, JOHNELL STEPNEY distributed approximately 6.16 

grams of cocaine base (“crack”) for $480 to CS-9 in the 1700 block of Cypress Street in Norfolk.  

164. On or about December 2, 2017, CS-23 deposited or caused to be deposited $6,000 cash 

into JOSE LUNA-ABREGO’s Wells Fargo account number **9414 as a partial payment towards 

cocaine previously provided by LUNA-ABREGO and the California-based suppliers. LUNA-

ABREGO withdrew $1,000 from the same account at a Wells Fargo ATM on Atlantic Avenue in Bell, 
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California later the same day. 

165. On or about December 5, 2017, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO withdrew an additional $4,000 

cash from Wells Fargo account number **9414 at a Wells Fargo ATM on West Adams Boulevard and 

Broadway Street in Los Angeles, California. 

166. On or about December 7, 2017, MAURICE BARNES distributed 27.26 grams of cocaine 

to CS-2 for $1,350 at Sewells Point Tire & Auto on Sewells Point Road in Norfolk. 

167. On or about December 7, 2017, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO express mailed a package 

containing approximately 4 pounds of marijuana from zip code 90018 in Los Angeles, California to 

CS-23 using an address in the 3200 block of Wimbledon Way in Virginia Beach, Virginia, and sent a 

photo of the U.S. Postal Service receipt to CS-23 via text message. 

168. On or about December 8, 2017, JOHNELL STEPNEY distributed approximately 10.76 

grams of cocaine base (“crack”) for $800 to CS-9 in the parking lot of the Farm Fresh grocery store at 

201 East Berkley Avenue in Norfolk.  

169. On or about December 13, 2017, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO express mailed a package 

containing approximately 4 pounds of marijuana from zip code 90008 in Los Angeles, California to 

CS-23 using an address in the 3200 block of Wimbledon Way in Virginia Beach, Virginia, and sent a 

photo of the U.S. Postal Service receipt to CS-23 via text message. 

170. On or about December 14, 2017, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO express mailed a package 

containing approximately 4 pounds of marijuana from zip code 90037 in Los Angeles, California to 

CS-23 using an address on Old Church Street in Portsmouth, Virginia, and sent a photo of the U.S. 

Postal Service receipt to CS-23 via text message. 

171. On or about December 18, 2017, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO express mailed a package 

containing approximately 4 pounds of marijuana from zip code 90255 in Huntington Park, California 
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to CS-23 using an address on Manly Street in Portsmouth, Virginia, and sent a photo of the U.S. Postal 

Service receipt to CS-23 via text message. 

172. On or about December 20, 2017, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO express mailed a package 

containing approximately 4 pounds of marijuana from zip code 90011 in Los Angeles, California to 

CS-23 using an address in Virginia Beach, Virginia, and sent a photo of the U.S. Postal Service receipt 

to CS-23 via text message. 

173. On or about December 20, 2017, JOHNELL STEPNEY distributed approximately 11.79 

grams of cocaine base (“crack”) for $800 to CS-9 in the parking lot of a MacDonald’s at 1046 

Campostella Road in Norfolk.  

2018 

174. On or about January 3, 2018, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO and unindicted co-conspirator #7 

(“UCC-7”) flew from Los Angeles, California to Norfolk, Virginia en route to Buffalo, New York, in 

order to obtain cocaine and provide CS-23 with 5 kilograms for further distribution in Virginia. CS-23 

picked them up at the Norfolk airport. 

175. On or about January 4, 2018, due to winter weather and flight delays, JOSE LUNA-

ABREGO and UCC-7 rented a car in Norfolk and drove to Raleigh/Durham, North Carolina where 

they boarded a Southwest Airlines flight to Buffalo, New York to meet other co-conspirators and 

obtain 5 kilograms of cocaine for CS-23. 

176. On or about January 6-7, 2018, because JOSE LUNA-ABREGO did not send 5 kilograms 

of cocaine to CS-23 in Norfolk as planned, CS-23 sent another individual who drove to Buffalo, New 

York to retrieve the cocaine and drive it back to Virginia. 

177. In or about mid-January of 2018, MAURICE BARNES purchased ½ kilogram of cocaine 

from CS-23 for $17,500 at Sewells Point Tire and Auto in Norfolk. 
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178. On or about January 19, 2018, JOHNELL STEPNEY distributed approximately 10.37 

grams of cocaine base (“crack”) for $700 to CS-9 in the parking lot of a MacDonald’s at 1046 

Campostella Road in Norfolk.  

179. On or about January 24, 2018, MAURICE BARNES distributed approximately 28.13 

grams of cocaine to CS-2 for $4,050 at Sewells Point Tire & Auto at 3439 Sewells Point Road in 

Norfolk.  

180. On or about February 7, 2018, Confidential Source #24 (“CS-24”) flew on Southwest 

Airlines from Los Angeles, California to Norfolk, Virginia to collect narcotics proceeds from CS-23 

and return it to the California-based cocaine suppliers. On the same day, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO used 

Visa debit card number **5681 to pay $427 for a one-way ticket on Delta airlines from Norfolk to Los 

Angeles, California. 

181. On or about February 7-8, 2018, CS-23 met CS-24 at a hotel near the Norfolk airport and 

provided CS-24 with $120,000 cash as a partial payment for cocaine previously supplied by the 

California-based suppliers.  

182. On or about February 16, 2018, JOHNELL STEPNEY distributed approximately 10.67 

grams of cocaine base (“crack”) for $700 to CS-9 outside a residence in the 1700 block of Cypress 

Street in Norfolk.  

183. On or about February 27, 2018, CS-23 deposited $1,600 cash into JOSE LUNA-

ABREGO’s Wells Fargo account **9414 in Norfolk, Virginia as a partial payment towards cocaine 

previously provided by LUNA-ABREGO and the California-based suppliers. LUNA-ABREGO 

withdrew $1,600 from the same account at a Wells Fargo ATM on West Adams Boulevard and 

Broadway Street in Los Angeles, California later the same day. 

184. From in or about February to May of 2018, MAURICE BARNES purchased 1 kilogram of 
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cocaine from CS-23 for $35,000 approximately every ten days. All of these transactions took place at 

Sewells Point Tire and Auto in Norfolk. All of this cocaine was supplied to CS-23 by JOSE LUNA-

ABREGO, a/k/a “Tuna,” and other Los Angeles-based co-conspirators. 

185.  On or about March 1, 2018, MAURICE BARNES distributed 55.74 grams of cocaine to 

CS-2 for $2,700 outside a 7-11 located at 1510 East Brambleton Avenue in Norfolk. 

186. On or about March 1, 2018, JOHNELL STEPNEY distributed approximately 20.50 grams 

of cocaine base (“crack”) for $1,400 to CS-9 outside a residence in the 1700 block of Cypress Street in 

Norfolk.  

187. On or about March 7, 2018, CS-23 deposited $250 cash into JOSE LUNA-ABREGO’s 

Wells Fargo account **9414 in Norfolk, Virginia.  

187(a).  On or about March 9, 2018, CS-23 deposited $3,500 cash and $4,000 cash into JOSE 

LUNA-ABREGO’s Wells Fargo account **9414 in Norfolk, Virginia as a partial payment towards 

cocaine previously provided by LUNA-ABREGO and the California-based suppliers. LUNA-

ABREGO withdrew $4,000 and $2,500 from the same account at a Wells Fargo ATM on West Adams 

Boulevard and Broadway Street in Los Angeles, California on March 12, 2018. 

188. On or about March 20, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO flew from Los Angeles, California, to 

Norfolk to collect money from CS-23 for cocaine previously supplied by LUNA-ABREGO and other 

California-based co-conspirators. 

189. On or about March 23, 2018, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO withdrew $2,200 cash, proceeds 

from the sale of illegal narcotics, from his Wells Fargo account **9414 at a Wells Fargo branch in the 

2000 block of Colonial Avenue in Norfolk, Virginia. 

190. On or about March 26, 2018, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO flew from Norfolk to Los Angeles, 

California, paying for the ticket with a Bancorp pre-paid Visa gift card number **6480. 
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191. On or about March 29, 2018, CS-23 deposited $4,500 cash into JOSE LUNA-ABREGO’s 

Wells Fargo account **9414 in Norfolk, Virginia as a partial payment towards cocaine previously 

provided by LUNA-ABREGO and the California-based suppliers. 

192. On or about April 3, 2018, CS-23 deposited $3,200 cash into JOSE LUNA-ABREGO’s 

Wells Fargo account **9414 in Virginia Beach, Virginia as a partial payment towards cocaine 

previously provided by LUNA-ABREGO and the California-based suppliers. LUNA-ABREGO 

withdrew $2,900 cash from the same account at a Wells Fargo branch in Culver City, California later 

the same day. 

193. On or about April 5, 2018, CS-23 deposited $3,200 cash into JOSE LUNA-ABREGO’s 

Wells Fargo account **9414 in Norfolk, Virginia as a partial payment towards cocaine previously 

provided by LUNA-ABREGO and the California-based suppliers. LUNA-ABREGO withdrew $2,900 

cash from the same account at a Wells Fargo branch in Los Angeles, California later the same day. 

194. On or about April 11, 2018, CS-23 deposited $3,200 cash into JOSE LUNA-ABREGO’s 

Wells Fargo account **9414 in Norfolk, Virginia as a partial payment towards cocaine previously 

provided by LUNA-ABREGO and the California-based suppliers. LUNA-ABREGO withdrew $3,000 

cash from the same account at a Wells Fargo branch in Vernon, California later the same day. 

195. On or about April 12, 2018, an individual who identified himself as “Brian” contacted a 

Public Storage facility at 612 Village Drive, in Virginia Beach, on behalf of ULISES GARCIA-RAZO, 

JOSE LUNA-ABREGO, UCC-6, and UCC-7 to request a rental unit capable of accommodating a large 

delivery truck under the guise of delivering hot air balloon equipment. “Brian” told the clerk one of his 

co-workers would visit the location to formalize rental of the storage unit. 

196. On or about April 13, 2018, CS-23 deposited $600 cash into JOSE LUNA-ABREGO’s 

Wells Fargo account **9414 in Norfolk, Virginia as a partial payment towards cocaine previously 
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provided by LUNA-ABREGO and the California-based suppliers. 

197. On or about April 13, 2018, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO purchased a one-way ticket on 

American Airlines for $566 and flew from Los Angeles, California to Norfolk, Virginia. 

198. On or about April 14, 2018, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO visited the Public Storage facility on 

Village Road in Virginia Beach, presented his California driver’s license and paid $182 cash to rent 

storage unit #62 pursuant to the reservation made by CS-24 on April 12, 2018. 

199. On or about April 16, 2018, at 8:04 a.m., CS-23 entered the Public Storage facility on 

Village Road in Virginia Beach, and passed through the security gate using the gate access code given 

to JOSE LUNA-ABREGO. 

200. On or about April 16, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO flew from Los Angeles, California 

to Chicago, Illinois, to facilitate the shipment of a large quantity of cocaine to Norfolk, Virginia. 

201. On or about April 17, 2018, on behalf of ULISES GARCIA-RAZO, JOSE LUNA-

ABREGO, UCC-6, and UCC-7, CS-24 flew from Los Angeles, California to Norfolk, Virginia to meet 

CS-23 and pick up cash proceeds from the sale of cocaine previously provided to CS-23.  

202. On or about April 19, 2018, CS-24 flew from Norfolk, Virginia to Los Angeles, California 

with cash proceeds from the sale of cocaine, to deliver the proceeds back to the California-based 

suppliers.  

203. On or about April 21, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO, UCC-6, 

UCC-7 and other unindicted co-conspirators caused a shipment of 20 kilograms of cocaine to be 

delivered to Public Storage Unit #62 on Village Drive in Virginia Beach at 9:38 a.m. 

204. On or about April 21, 2018, at 10:58 a.m., CS-24 was contacted by the Public Storage 

facility on Village Drive in Virginia Beach to let him know a delivery had arrived. 

205. On or about April 21, 2018 at 12:26 p.m., JOSE-LUNA ABREGO and CS-23 visited Unit 
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#62 at the Public Storage facility on Village Road in Virginia Beach and retrieved 20 kilograms of 

cocaine which they transported to Apartment #708 at the ICON Apartments in the 300 block of East 

Main Street in Norfolk. 

206. On or about April 22, 2018, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO deposited $580 cash and $480 cash 

into his Wells Fargo account **9414 at an ATM in the 2000 block of Colonial Avenue in Norfolk. 

207. On or about April 22, 2018, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO flew from Norfolk, Virginia to Los 

Angeles, California using proceeds from the sale of narcotics to purchase the ticket for $566. 

 208. On or about April 23, 2018, at 8:13 p.m., MAURICE BARNES used Cell Phone #1 to 

speak with UCC-“LK” to discuss “moon rock” (high grade marijuana.) (Session #111). 

209. On or about April 24, 2018, at 4:53 p.m., MAURICE BARNES used Cell Phone #1 to tell 

UCC-“LK,” a known heroin dealer, that BARNES had a customer looking to purchase $250 worth of 

heroin, but couldn’t get in touch with him. UCC-“LK” agrees to “swing back over there” to BARNES’ 

location to make the deal. (Session #438). 

210. On or about April 24, 2018, at 5:13 p.m., MAURICE BARNES used Cell Phone #1 to tell 

“LK,” “them N****s back, cuz… [they] want the food,” meaning BARNES’ customers had returned 

looking for heroin. Later the same day, UCC-“LK” met with BARNES at Sewell’s Point Tire and 

Auto. (Session #466). 

211. On or about April 25, 2018, at 12:33 p.m., MAURICE BARNES used Cell Phone #1 to 

discuss marijuana with REGINALD BEALE. At 12:35 p.m., BARNES sent a text message to BEALE 

saying, “I need one, bro.” Later that evening at 9:08 p.m., BARNES tells BEALE, “My homeboy … 

wanna get a whole junk …but I only got three QP’s, I just need maybe, like you know what I’m sayin,’ 

a junk from you,” meaning a customer wants to purchase a pound of marijuana from BARNES, but he 
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only has ¾ pounds left and needs BEALE to either supply another pound in its entirety, or add another 

¼ pound to the ¾ pound BARNES has left over to make the sale. (Session #743, 744, and 944). 

212. On or about April 26, 2018, at 4:04 p.m., UCC-“EM” called MAURICE BARNES on Cell 

Phone #1 and ordered “three pieces” of “Christine,” code language for three ounces of cocaine. 

(Session #1276). 

213. On or about April 26, 2018, at 4:17 p.m.., MAURICE BARNES called UCC-“BD” on 

Cell Phone #1 looking for “three junk” (three ounces of cocaine). UCC-“BD” recommends that 

BARNES get in touch with BRANDON WILLIAMS to see if he has any cocaine. (Session #1286). 

214. On or about April 26, 2018, at 4:37 p.m., MAURICE BARNES used Cell Phone #1 to ask 

BRANDON WILLIAMS for a “trey ball” (three ounces of cocaine) but WILLIAMS couldn’t make the 

deal because he is getting ready to go out of town and traffic is bad that time of day. (Session #1304). 

215. On or about April 30, 2018, between 4:07 p.m. and 4:34 p.m., MAURICE BARNES used 

Cell Phone #1 to talk to CS-23 several times to coordinate CS-23 dropping off two packages of heroin 

at Sewell’s Point Tire and Auto.   

216. On or about the late afternoon of April 30, 2018, at MAURICE BARNES’ direction, CS-

23 hid two packages of heroin for BARNES under the seat of a party bus parked at Sewell’s Point Tire 

and Auto. 

217. On or about April 30, 2018, at 9:35 p.m., MAURICE BARNES called CS-23 on Cell 

Phone #1 and asked what the difference was between the “dark” one and the “light” one, and CS-23 

replies that they are both heroin, and the price is $2,000 per ounce. (Session #2009, 2022, 2165). 

218. On or about April 30, 2018, at 8:22 p.m., MAURICE BARNES called UCC-“TH” on Cell 

Phone #1 and offered to sell him 4 or 5 ounces of cocaine for $1,075 per ounce. (Session #2111). 
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219. On or about April 30, 2018, at 9:22 p.m., MAURICE BARNES called UCC“BD” on Cell 

Phone #1 to say that he has nine ounces of cocaine and a quantity of heroin for him. (Session #2152). 

220. On or about May 1, 2018, MAURICE BARNES distributed 53.36 grams of cocaine to CS-

2 for $2,700 at Sewell’s Point Tire and Auto on Sewell’s Point Road in Norfolk. 

221. On or about May 2, 2018 at 11:17 a.m., CS-23 visited the Public Storage facility on 

Village Drive in Virginia Beach and paid $109.20 for rent on Unit #62, on behalf of ULISES 

GARCIA-RAZO, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO, and other California-based unindicted co-conspirators. 

 222. On or about May 2, 2018, at 11:29 a.m., MAURICE BARNES used Cell Phone #1 to call 

UCC-“TH” to discuss a “shot” (3.5 grams) of heroin that UCC-“TH” intended to distribute to another 

individual. BARNES confirms that the customer wants to “separate out a grizzly from that shot . . . so 

it’ll be two-and-a-half, and then put a one on two-and-a-half and turn it into five,” meaning the 

customer wants to separate out 1 gram from the 3.5 grams of heroin to sell it at a higher price, and then 

add 2.5 grams of cut to the remaining 2.5 grams of heroin to turn it into five grams. (Session #2786). 

223. On or about May 2, 2018, at 1:38 p.m., UCC-“TH” called MAURICE BARNES on Cell 

Phone #1 and asked, “Hey how much umm … a point-five (0.5) of dat shit?” to which BARNES 

replied “the brown for fifty, and then umm, the other junk I was givin’ it to him for thirty-five,” 

meaning that BARNES is telling UCC-“TH” to charge $50 per ½ gram for the dark colored heroin and 

$35 per ½ gram for the lighter colored heroin. (Session #2845). 

224. On or about May 3, 2018, at 11:27 a.m., MAURICE BARNES spoke with CS-23 on Cell 

Phone #1 and ordered one to two ounces of heroin from CS-23. BARNES confirmed later by text 

message he only needed one, and they met at Sewell’s Point Tire and Auto Repair to make the deal. 

(Session #3143, #3198). 

225. On or about May 4, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO, UCC-6, 



 

 
43 

UCC-7 and other unindicted co-conspirators caused a shipment of approximately 10 kilograms of 

cocaine to be delivered by CDS Air Freight to Public Storage Unit #62 on Village Drive in Virginia 

Beach at approximately 6:00 p.m. 

226. On or about May 4, 2018, at 10:58 a.m., CS-24 was contacted by the Public Storage 

facility on Village Drive in Virginia Beach to let him know a delivery had arrived. 

227. On or about May 4, 2018, JOHNELL STEPNEY distributed approximately 26.92 grams 

of cocaine base (“crack”) for $700 to CS-9 outside the Hardee’s Restaurant in the 400 block of 

Campostella Road in Norfolk.  

228. On or about May 6, 2018, at 8:01 p.m., MAURICE BARNES called CS-23 on Cell Phone 

#1 and complained to him about the poor quality of cocaine CS-23 recently provided as follows: “I 

think we gonna switch them janks out bro … my peoples calling me last night about the jank.” 

BARNES continues, “[They] say this shit moving slow … I mean, you know, that shit like, it’s solid, 

but then she fall down, know what I mean? She fishy as a mutha . . . but when you take it out one junk, 

put in another junk, that shit leave the bag cloudy as a bitch.” CS-23 agreed to exchange the cocaine 

for a different batch, saying “I’ma switch it for you.” (Session #4539). 

 229. On or about May 8, 2018, at 3:03 p.m., BARNES placed a call on Cell Phone #1 to UCC-

“TH” to complain, “I ain't have no janks last night” meaning he couldn’t get any cocaine to sell 

because UCC-“TH” didn’t answer the door at the stash house in the 100 block of West 32nd Street in 

Norfolk. UCC-“TH” tells BARNES he will have it ready for him later that evening. (Session #5072). 

 230. On or about May 8, 2018, at 6:00 p.m., MAURICE BARNES called UCC-“ES” on Cell 

Phone #1 and tried to entice him to purchase “Christina” (cocaine) from him, but UCC-“ES” doesn’t 

want to pay “a stack” ($1,000) per ounce, and instead offers BARNES “nine-five” ($950). UCC-“ES” 

says he has the “plucks” (customers), but not at that price. They continue to negotiate until UCC-“ES” 
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says he is going to make some calls to see if he can put money together to meet BARNES’ price. 

(Session #5170). 

 231. On or about May 9, 2018, at 2:46 p.m., UCC-“MM” called MAURICE BARNES on Cell 

Phone #1 to complain about the quality of cocaine BARNES previously sold him. During the 

conversation, UCC-“MM” tells Barnes that his customer “put that shit under water” (tried to cook the 

cocaine into crack) and “that shit ain’t good.”  BARNES replies, “…just bring the jank back then 

bro,” and agrees to refund UCC-“MM”’s money. (Session #5478). 

232.  On or about May 12, 2018, at 2:34 p.m., UCC-“ES” called MAURICE BARNES on Cell 

Phone #1 and asked how much he is charging for “the dawg” (heroin). BARNES replied $300 for each 

“shot” (1/8th ounce) and explained that the heroin is “a rocket” (meaning high quality) and that it’s 

brown in color. (Session #6428). 

233. On or about May 15, 2018, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed approximately 27.97 

grams of cocaine for $700 to CS-10 outside the Citgo gas station at 985 Ingleside Road in Norfolk.  

234. On or about May 16, 2018, at 9:12 a.m., UCC-“BD” called MAURICE BARNES on Cell 

Phone #1 to order “a single jonk” (ounce of cocaine). At first, BARNES tells him the price is “ten five” 

($1,050), but then says, “…but we do it for like 10-25 for you,” ($1,025). They agree to meet later that 

evening to conduct the transaction. (Session #8193, #8404, #8645, #8651, and #8669). 

235. On or about May 16, 2018, at 6:58 p.m., CS-23 visited Public Storage Unit #62 on Village 

Drive in Virginia Beach. 

 236. On or about May 17, 2018, at 5:45 p.m., UCC-“ES” called MAURICE BARNES on Cell 

Phone #1, and said, “I need a quad of the dog food,” (1/4 ounce of heroin), and BARNES agrees to sell 

it to him for “five and a half” ($550). They agree to meet later. (Session #9105). 
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237. On May 17, 2018, at 7:50 p.m., “ES” called MAURICE BARNES on Cell Phone #1 to 

discuss a previous heroin debt ($2,800) and order another four ounces of heroin for $4,150. During the 

call, UCC-“ES” says, “…look man I’m bout to god damn have your um… the 280 I owe right, but god 

damn, I need a four way too, so what, what I mean … what you do for me for a four way?” to which 

BARNES replies, “Gimme forty one five, I do it for you.” (Session #9170). 

238. On or about May 20, 2018, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed approximately 28.06 

grams of heroin for $2,500 to CS-10 outside the Citgo gas station at 985 Ingleside Road in Norfolk. 

239. On or about May 21, 2018, at 8:41 a.m., CS-23 visited Public Storage Unit #62 on Village 

Drive in Virginia Beach driving a U-Haul rental truck to clean out the packaging and heavy pallets 

from the previous cocaine shipments, leaving at approximately 8:47 a.m. 

240. On or about May 22, 2018 at 5:28 p.m., CS-23 visited the Public Storage facility on 

Village Drive in Virginia Beach and paid $182 cash for rent on Unit #62, on behalf of ULISES 

GARCIA-RAZO, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO, UCC-6, UCC-7, and other California-based unindicted co-

conspirators, which ensured the account would remain active through June 30, 2018. 

241. On or about May 22, 2018, at 8:00 p.m., UCC-“AW” called MAURICE BARNES on Cell 

Phone #1 to ask for an ounce of cocaine. During the call, UCC-“AW” says, “Hey bro, I need a zippo” 

(ounce), and BARNES replies, “Of what, Christine?” UCC-“AW” replies, “Short, shorty girl, yeah.” 

BARNES tells AW he is in the ice cream truck selling ice cream, and will get up with him later. UCC-

“AW” replies, “Don’t forget me bro, I need that shit.” (Session #10937). 

 242.  On or about May 23, 2018, at 8:28 a.m., called MAURICE BARNES on Cell Phone #1 

and asked CS-23 for either 9 ounces or one-half kilogram (“9 or half a jank”) of cocaine 

(“Christines”). BARNES also says he has some money to pay CS-23 now and another $6,500 coming 

to him around 1:00 p.m. CS-23 agrees to the deal. On the same day, at approximately 9:03 a.m., 
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BARNES sent CS-23 a text message that read, “I take a 9 you want to bring that out,” meaning that 

BARNES would purchase nine ounces instead of half a kilogram, and CS-23 responded at 9:47 a.m., 

“We're u I'm On my way!” (Session #29, #35 and #11149). 

243. On or about May 24, 2018, JOHNELL STEPNEY distributed approximately 12.75 grams 

of cocaine base (“crack”) for $700 to CS-9 in the 1300 block Monticello Avenue in Norfolk.  

244. On or about May 25, 2018, at 3:23 p.m., BRANDON WILLIAMS received a call from 

CS-10 who ordered two ounces of heroin. At approximately 4:02 p.m., BRANDON WILLIAMS 

called MAURICE WILLIAMS who in turn called CS-23 to order the heroin. CS-23 supplied the 

heroin to MAURICE WILLIAMS who then distributed it to BRANDON WILLIAMS later that day. 

(Sessions #149, #151). 

245. On or about May 25, 2018, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed approximately 53.3 

grams of heroin for $5,000 to CS-10 outside the Citgo gas station at 985 Ingleside Road in Norfolk.  

246. On or about May 30, 2018, at 9:07 a.m., CS-23 called MAURICE BARNES on Cell 

Phone #1 to tell him that he (CS-23) was obligated to turn himself in to the Virginia Beach jail to serve 

a short misdemeanor sentence. BARNES tells CS-23 that “she shook a leg this weekend,” (drug sales 

were busy) and that he was getting ready to call CS-23 for more, but they agree it will have to wait 

until CS-23 gets out of jail. (Session #13336). 

247.  On or about May 30, 2018, CS-23 gave Cell Phone #2 and the use of his grey Honda 

Accord to MAURICE WILLIAMS to carry on his narcotics business while he was incarcerated. 

(Session #13325, #13327). 

248. On or about May 31, 2018, at 10:37 a.m., MAURICE BARNES received a call on Cell 

Phone #1 and spoke with UCC-“ES” who ordered 4 ounces of heroin. They agree to meet at a barber 

shop near Norfolk State University. The same day at 12:33 p.m., UCC-“ES” called BARNES to 
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negotiate a lower price, but BARNES complains, “I can’t shoot them numbers like that boy, You’re 

killin’ me bro!” BARNES says, “… dang bro, you know I be charging n***’s 25-2600 for them janks 

bro,” ($2,500-$2,600 per ounce). UCC-“ES” assures BARNES he will pay him what he owes, and 

BARNES assures UCC-“ES” the quality of the heroin is good (“Well that jank there, is a space 

rocket”). (Session #13864, #13952). 

249. On or about June 1, 2018, MAURICE BARNES distributed 27.61 grams of cocaine to CS-

2 for $1,350 at Sewells Point Tire & Auto on Sewells Point Road in Norfolk. 

250.  On or about June 6, 2018, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed 28.42 grams of a mixture 

containing heroin and fentanyl to CS-10 for $2,500 at a parking lot outside Military Circle Mall in 

Norfolk. 

251. On or about June 7, 2018, at 11:09 a.m., MAURICE WILLIAMS used Cell Phone #2 to 

arrange to meet with UCC-“TM” outside Greenbrier Mall in Chesapeake and deliver 2 ounces of 

cocaine to him. (Session #483-486, 488, 490-91). 

252. On or about June 8, 2018, at 3:44 p.m., CS-23 called JOSE LUNA-ABREGO from the 

Virginia Beach City jail to explain why he has been unable to collect money for cocaine previously 

provided, and to assure LUNA-ABREGO that the money will be forth coming when CS-23 is released 

from jail. 

 253.  On June 8, 2018 at 5:59 p.m., MAURICE BARNES sent a text message from Cell Phone 

#1 to UCC-“DG” about providing him with cocaine, “Bro I can do whatever you want bro or need me 

to do if you can just put a little something down if not we will keep it show the same up to you bro.” 

UCC-“DG” then explains to BARNES he doesn’t have any money right now but could handle “two 

joints” meaning two ounces at a time if BARNES is willing to do it. BARNES agrees to provide him 

with four ounces of cocaine, and UCC-“DG” agrees that as soon as he sells it, he will pay back 
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BARNES with the proceeds (“trying to get my people’s to speed it up a lil bit but either way as soon 

as I get it u will bro.”) (Session #’s 16681, 16683, 16685, 16687, 16693, 16695, 16703, 16705 and 

16707).   

254. On or about June 8, 2018, BRANDON WILLIAMS distributed 27.62 grams of a mixture 

containing heron and fentanyl cocaine to CS-10 for $2,500 outside the Citgo gas station at 985 

Ingleside Road in Norfolk. 

255. On or about June 8, 2018, MAURICE WILLIAMS delivered one kilogram of cocaine to 

MAURICE BARNES at Sewell’s Point Tire & Auto in Norfolk, using Cell Phone #2 to make 

arrangements with BARNES (Session #16541, 16560, 16563). 

256.  On or about June 10, 2018, at approximately 9:30 p.m., MAURICE BARNES used Cell 

Phone #1 to speak with REGINALD BEALE about the quality of cocaine previously provided to 

BREON DIXON. (Session #17522). 

257. On or about June 13, 2018, in the 1000 block of Park Avenue in Norfolk, BRANDON 

WILLIAMS possessed with intent to distribute approximately ½ ounce of heroin, 3.04 grams of 

cocaine base, 3.57 grams of marijuana, and .047 grams of Buprenorphine and Naloxone. WILLIAMS 

also possessed approximately $1,631 cash, the proceeds of illegal narcotics sales. 

258. On or about June 13, 2018, at a residence in the 3300 block of Ranier Court in Virginia 

Beach, Virginia, BRANDON WILLIAMS possessed with intent to distribute a quantity of ecstasy 

tablets, and possessed cutting agents, paraphernalia associated with distribution of heroin, and a loaded 

Taurus 9mm semi-automatic pistol. 

259. On or about June 13, 2018, at 3:31 p.m. and 8:38 p.m., CS-23 and MAURICE 

WILLIAMS discussed moving thirteen kilograms of cocaine from an apartment in the ICON building 

on East Main Street in downtown Norfolk to a different apartment in the Metro Apartment on Granby 
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Street for safekeeping. 

260. On or about June 14, 2018 at 1:56 p.m., MAURICE WILLIAMS confirmed in a phone 

call with CS-23 that he (WILLIAMS) had moved the 13 kilograms of cocaine from the ICON 

apartment to the Metro apartment as previously discussed. 

261. On June 14, 2018, 2:55 p.m., MAURICE WILLIAMS placed a call on Cell Phone #2 on 

behalf of CS-23 to an unknown male (UM) to see if he is ready to purchase a kilogram of cocaine. The 

UM says he already has $25,000 and expects to have the full $30,000 for WILLIAMS in the morning. 

(Session #582, #586).   

262. On or about June 15, 2018, MAURICE WILLIAMS possessed with intent to distribute 

13.05 kilograms of cocaine, 195.6 grams of cocaine, and 10.7 grams of marijuana at an apartment in 

the METRO apartments on Granby Street in Norfolk. 

263. On or about June 28, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and another individual flew from 

San Diego, California to Chicago, Illinois.  

264. On or about June 29, 2018, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO and UCC-6 flew from Los Angeles, 

California to Chicago. GARCIA-RAZO, LUNA-ABREGO and UCC-6 then flew together from 

Chicago to Norfolk, Virginia to attempt to collect narcotics proceeds from CS-23. 

265. On or about June 29, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO and UCC-

6 visited CS-23’s girlfriend at her job at “The Main” restaurant in Norfolk in an attempt to collect 

narcotics proceeds and check up on CS-23 who was serving a short jail sentence. 

266. On or about June 30, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO, JOSE LUNA-ABREGO and UCC-

6 flew from Norfolk, Virginia to Los Angeles, California after unsuccessfully collecting narcotics 

proceeds from CS-23. 

267. On or about July 5-6, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and JOSE LUNA-ABREGO flew 
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from Los Angeles, California to Norfolk, Virginia, to collect narcotics proceeds from CS-23 and 

discuss possible future shipments of cocaine to Virginia. 

268. On or about July 6, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and JOSE LUNA-ABREGO rented a 

car from Hertz and checked into the Day’s Inn hotel at 1450 N. Military Highway, in Norfolk. 

269. On or about July 6, 2018, at approximately 9:00 p.m., ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and 

JOSE LUNA-ABREGO met with CS-23 at the Norfolk Hilton hotel in the 100 block of East Main 

Street in Norfolk. LUNA-ABREGO translated for GARCIA-RAZO. During the meeting, GARCIA-

RAZO told CS-23 that the price for the multiple kilograms of cocaine stored in Norfolk had increased 

between $1,600-$2000 per kilogram (above the $27,000 base price) because of “border issues,” and 

suggested that CS-23 raise the price he charged his customers as well. 

270. On or about July 6, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO told CS-23 that once payments were 

made towards the outstanding narcotics debt, GARCIA-RAZO could send up to 50 kilograms of 

cocaine in a future shipment. 

271. On or about July 6, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and JOSE LUNA-ABREGO changed 

their hotel from the Day’s Inn on Military Highway to the Norfolk Waterside Marriott, 235 East Main 

Street in Norfolk. 

272. On or about July 11, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and JOSE LUNA-ABREGO 

checked into the Wingate Wyndham Hotel at 5800 Burton Station Road, in Virginia Beach. 

273. On or about July 11, 2018, at approximately 6:44 p.m., ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and 

JOSE LUNA-ABREGO met with CS-23 at their hotel room at the Wingate Wyndham hotel in Virginia 

Beach in order to discuss money owed to them by CS-23 for cocaine previously provided by them, and 

to receive the key to Public Storage Unit #62. During the meeting, LUNA-ABREGO translated for 

GARCIA-RAZO. 
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274. On or about July 11, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and JOSE LUNA-ABREGO 

contacted CS-23 and told him they could not wait until the following week to collect money from him. 

GARCIA-RAZO and LUNA-ABREGO directed CS-23 to pay a large portion of his narcotics debt and 

turn over 15 kilograms of cocaine to them the following day.  

275. On or about July 12, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and JOSE LUNA-ABREGO 

contacted CS-23 and agreed to meet the following day, July 13, 2018. During the phone conversation, 

CS-23 told LUNA-ABREGO, “Just let him know… I probably won’t be able to get to you all until 

tomorrow man, because I’m expecting to pick up some more money and I want to give you as much as 

possible … is you all taking this shit back man? Or do you just want to see it?” LUNA-ABREGO 

replied, “What the uh… the 15? … I guess the guy is picking it up is coming tonight … they want him 

to hold it meanwhile until you pay up the other one.” 

276. On or about July 12, 2018, at ULISES GARCIA-RAZO’s direction, CS-24 flew to 

Buffalo, New York to collect $45,000 cash, proceeds from the sale of narcotics. 

277. On or about July 12, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO instructed CS-24 to fly to Norfolk, 

Virginia to pick up approximately $80,000 cash, proceeds from the sale of narcotics.  

278. On or about July 13, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and JOSE LUNA-ABREGO 

checked out of their rooms in the Wingate Wyndham on Burton Station Road in Virginia Beach, and 

checked into Room #821 of the Wyndham Garden Norfolk Downtown hotel at 700 Monticello Avenue 

in Norfolk. 

279. On or about July 13, 2018, ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and JOSE LUNA-ABREGO visited 

the Life Storage facility at 1213 East Brambleton Avenue in Norfolk and rented a new storage unit to 

store future narcotics shipments and facilitate future narcotics transactions.  
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280. On or about July 13, 2018, CS-24 flew from Buffalo, New York to Norfolk, Virginia to 

meet ULISES GARCIA-RAZO to collect cash that was supposed to be supplied by CS-23. 

281. On or about July 13, 2018 at 6:05 p.m., JOSE LUNA-ABREGO received a call from CS-

23 who told LUNA-ABREGO that he had $100,000 for ULISES GARCIA-RAZO. They agreed to 

meet at the Quality Suites hotel on Premium Outlet Boulevard in Norfolk. 

282. On or about July 13, 2018, at 6:30 p.m., ULISES GARCIA-RAZO and JOSE LUNA-

ABREGO possessed with intent to distribute 8 kilograms of cocaine, 3 kilograms of imitation cocaine, 

and $100,000, the proceeds of narcotics sales, at room #283 of the Quality Inn Suites hotel, 1521 

Premium Outlets Boulevard, Norfolk, Virginia. 

(All in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 846). 

 

COUNT TWO 

From in or about June of 2017, the exact date being unknown to the Grand Jury, and 

continuously thereafter up to and including the date of this superseding indictment, in the Eastern 

District of Virginia and elsewhere, ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO, JOSE MOICES LUNA-

ABREGO (a/k/a/ “Tuna”), and KERRY JAY DARDEN (a/k/a “Lil Jay”), the defendants herein, did 

knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully combine, conspire, confederate and agree with others known and 

unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses against the United States in violation of Title 18, 

United States Code, Sections 1956 and 1957, to wit: 

(a) to knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct financial transactions affecting interstate 

commerce and foreign commerce, which transactions involved the proceeds of specified unlawful 

activity, that is, conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute cocaine, cocaine base, 

heroin and marijuana as alleged in Count One of this indictment, knowing that the transactions were 
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designed in whole or in part to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, and 

control of the proceeds of said unlawful activity, and that while conducting, attempting to conduct, and 

aiding and abetting the conducting of such financial transactions, knew that the property involved in 

the financial transaction represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity in violation of 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i); and 

(b)  to knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct financial transactions affecting interstate 

commerce and foreign commerce, which transactions involved the proceeds of specified unlawful 

activity, that is, conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute cocaine, cocaine base, and 

marijuana as alleged in Count One of this indictment, knowing that the transactions were designed in 

whole or in part to avoid a transaction reporting requirement under federal law, and that while 

conducting, attempting to conduct, and aiding and abetting the conducting of such financial 

transactions, knew that the property involved in the financial transaction represented the proceeds of 

some form of unlawful activity in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(ii); 

and 

(c)  to knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate 

and foreign commerce, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, that is, 

conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute cocaine and marijuana as described in 

Count One of this indictment, with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, 

that is, the use of the mail in interstate commerce and travel in interstate commerce with intent to 

promote and carry on unlawful activity, and that while conducting or attempting to conduct such 

financial transaction knew that the property involved in the financial transaction represented the 

proceeds of some form of unlawful activity in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 

1956(a)(1)(A)(i). 
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WAYS, MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY 

The ways, manners and means of Count One of this indictment are incorporated into this count 

by reference herein. Additional manner and means used to accomplish the objectives of the conspiracy 

included, among others, the following: 

1.  Causing movement of funds by wire transfer;  

2.  Exchanging cash for negotiable instruments; 

3.  The depositing of United States currency into and the withdrawing of funds out of bank 

accounts, and the application of United States currency to stored value cards and debit cards, including 

but not limited to the following accounts: (1) Bancorp prepaid account numbers **6480 and **6767 

registered to JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO, (2) Green Dot prepaid Mastercard **3435 registered 

to JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO, (3) Wells Fargo checking account number **9414 registered to 

JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO, (4) Visa account number **5681 used by JOSE MOICES LUNA-

ABREGO, (5) Visa account number **9710 used by CS-23 (6) Wells Fargo account number **6306 

registered to CS-23; (7) Visa account number **2262 used by CS-23; (8) Mastercard number **6796 

used by UCC-7; (9) Visa account numbers **0096, **6050, **7958, **6383 registered to CS-23; (10) 

Bank of America account numbers **8769 and **8798 registered to CS-23; (11) Wells Fargo account 

number **8982 registered to UCC-6; and Navy Federal Credit Union Account number **3396, 

**0636, **8416 and **9266 registered to KERRY JAY DARDEN; 

4.  Purchasing airline tickets and bus tickets; 

5.  Paying for hotel rooms; 

6.  Paying for UBER, Lyft and other ride-sharing services; 

7.  Smuggling large amounts of cash during interstate travel; 

8.  Repeatedly paying for cocaine, cocaine base, heroin and marijuana that was received either 

partially or wholly on consignment (i.e., “fronted”) with cash from the proceeds of earlier narcotics 
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deals; 

9.  Depositing to, transferring to, and exchanging United States currency into bank accounts in 

a series of increments less than $10,000 to avoid the necessity of filing Currency Transaction Reports 

(CTR=s); and 

10.  The shipment and transportation of controlled substances and the remittance of monies 

derived from their illegal distribution to and from the Eastern District of Virginia and elsewhere, which 

involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, that is, felonious sale and distribution of 

controlled substances by the defendants and co-conspirators named in this indictment. 

OVERT ACTS 

In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to bring about the objects and goals of the conspiracy, the 

defendant and co-conspirators herein committed overt acts in the Eastern District of Virginia and 

elsewhere, including, but not limited to the overt acts listed in Count One of this indictment, which are 

re-alleged as if fully set forth herein. 

(All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).) 
 

 
COUNT THREE 

 
On or about November 14, 2016, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, REGINALD 

SAM BEALE, a/k/a “Pootie,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 

105 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II 

narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 
 

 COUNT FOUR 
 

On or about December 6, 2016, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, REGINALD 
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SAM BEALE, a/k/a “Pootie,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 

103.89 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II 

narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

COUNT FIVE 
 

On or about March 31, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, MAURICE 

ANTONIO BARNES, a/k/a “Reese,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute 

approximately 55.65 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a 

Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 
 

COUNT SIX 
 

On or about April 21, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, MAURICE 

ANTONIO BARNES, a/k/a “Reese,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute 

approximately 55.04 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a 

Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 
 

COUNT SEVEN 
 

On or about April 24, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, REGINALD SAM 

BEALE, a/k/a “Pootie,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 124.08 

grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II narcotic 

controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
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COUNT EIGHT 

 On or about June 14, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, KERRY JAY 

DARDEN, a/k/a “Lil’ Jay,” did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction 

affecting interstate and foreign commerce, to wit, depositing $7,000 cash into Navy Federal Credit 

Union account number **0636 at branch #G7 and immediately withdrawing $7,000 cash from the 

same account in larger denominations, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, 

that is conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute cocaine, knowing that the 

transaction was designed in whole or in part to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, 

ownership and control of the proceeds of said specified unlawful activity and that while conducting 

and attempting to conduct such financial transaction knew that the property involved in the financial 

transaction represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2). 

COUNT NINE 

 On or about June 14, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, KERRY JAY 

DARDEN, a/k/a “Lil’ Jay,” did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction 

affecting interstate and foreign commerce, to wit, using Navy Federal Credit Union account number 

**0636, exchanged $4,000 cash at branch #G7 for $4,000 cash in larger denominations, which 

involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, that is conspiracy to distribute and possess with 

intent to distribute cocaine, knowing that the transaction was designed in whole or in part to conceal 

and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership and control of the proceeds of said specified 

unlawful activity and that while conducting and attempting to conduct such financial transaction knew 

that the property involved in the financial transaction represented the proceeds of some form of 

unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2). 
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COUNT TEN 

 On or about June 14, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, KERRY JAY 

DARDEN, a/k/a “Lil’ Jay,” did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction 

affecting interstate and foreign commerce, to wit, depositing $6,100 cash into Navy Federal Credit 

Union account number **0636 at branch #72 and immediately withdrawing $6,100 cash from the same 

account in larger denominations, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, that is 

conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute cocaine, knowing that the transaction was 

designed in whole or in part to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership and control 

of the proceeds of said specified unlawful activity and that while conducting and attempting to conduct 

such financial transaction knew that the property involved in the financial transaction represented the 

proceeds of some form of unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2). 
 

 
COUNT ELEVEN 

On or about June 21, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, REGINALD SAM 

BEALE, a/k/a “Pootie,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 92.43 

grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II narcotic 

controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 

COUNT TWELVE 

 On or about July 15, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, KERRY JAY 

DARDEN, a/k/a “Lil’ Jay,” did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction 

affecting interstate and foreign commerce, to wit, depositing $8,100 cash into Navy Federal Credit 
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Union account number **8416 at branch #72 then withdrawing $7,500 cash from the same account in 

larger denominations at branch #G7, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, that 

is conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute cocaine, knowing that the transaction 

was designed in whole or in part to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership and 

control of the proceeds of said specified unlawful activity and that while conducting and attempting to 

conduct such financial transaction knew that the property involved in the financial transaction 

represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2). 

COUNT THIRTEEN 

 On or about July 28, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, KERRY JAY 

DARDEN, a/k/a “Lil’ Jay,” did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction 

affecting interstate and foreign commerce, to wit, depositing $8,500 cash and $500 cash into Navy 

Federal Credit Union account number **8416 at branch #72 at different times, then withdrawing 

$8,500 cash from the same account in larger denominations at branch #G7, which involved the 

proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, that is conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to 

distribute cocaine, knowing that the transaction was designed in whole or in part to conceal and 

disguise the nature, location, source, ownership and control of the proceeds of said specified unlawful 

activity and that while conducting and attempting to conduct such financial transaction knew that the 

property involved in the financial transaction represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful 

activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2). 
 
 
 



 

 
60 

COUNT FOURTEEN 
 

On or about September 12, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, BREON 

LASHAWN DIXON, a/k/a “Big Bre,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute 

approximately 1.91 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, 

commonly known as “crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

COUNT FIFTEEN 
 

On or about September 19, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, BREON 

LASHAWN DIXON, a/k/a “Big Bre,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute 

approximately 1.23 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, 

commonly known as “crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 
 

COUNT SIXTEEN 
 

On or about October 13, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, BREON 

LASHAWN DIXON, a/k/a “Big Bre,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute 

approximately 4.48 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, 

commonly known as “crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

 
COUNT SEVENTEEN 

 
On or about October 20, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, MAURICE 

ANTONIO BARNES, a/k/a “Reese,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute 

approximately 83.84 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a 
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Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

COUNT EIGHTEEN 

 On or about October 20, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, KERRY JAY 

DARDEN, a/k/a “Lil’ Jay,” did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction 

affecting interstate and foreign commerce, to wit, depositing $9,100 cash into Navy Federal Credit 

Union account number **0636 at branch #72 then immediately withdrawing $9,100 cash from the 

same account in larger denominations, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, 

that is conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute cocaine, knowing that the 

transaction was designed in whole or in part to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, 

ownership and control of the proceeds of said specified unlawful activity and that while conducting 

and attempting to conduct such financial transaction knew that the property involved in the financial 

transaction represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2). 

COUNT NINETEEN 

 In or about October 21, 2017, KERRY JAY DARDEN, a/k/a “Lil’ Jay” traveled in interstate 

commerce from Virginia to Houston, Texas, with intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on and 

facilitate the promotion, management, establishment and carrying on of an unlawful activity, said 

activity being a business enterprise involving distribution of cocaine, a Schedule II narcotic controlled 

substance, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841 and 846, and thereafter performed 

and attempted to perform acts to promote, manage, carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, 

and carrying on of said unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2). 
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COUNT TWENTY 

 In or about October 26, 2017, KERRY JAY DARDEN, a/k/a “Lil’ Jay” traveled in interstate 

commerce from Houston, Texas, to Virginia with intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on and 

facilitate the promotion, management, establishment and carrying on of an unlawful activity, said 

activity being a business enterprise involving distribution of cocaine, a Schedule II narcotic controlled 

substance, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841 and 846, and thereafter performed 

and attempted to perform acts to promote, manage, carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, 

and carrying on of said unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2). 

COUNT TWENTY-ONE 
 

On or about November 27, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, JOHNELL 

DESHAWN STEPNEY, did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 6.16 

grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, commonly known as 

“crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

COUNT TWENTY-TWO 
 

On or about December 7, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, MAURICE 

ANTONIO BARNES, a/k/a “Reese,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute 

approximately 27.26 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a 

Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
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COUNT TWENTY-THREE 
 

On or about December 8, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, JOHNELL 

DESHAWN STEPNEY, did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 10.76 

grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, commonly known as 

“crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

 
COUNT TWENTY-FOUR 

 
On or about December 20, 2017, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, JOHNELL 

DESHAWN STEPNEY, did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 11.79 

grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, commonly known as 

“crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

COUNT TWENTY-FIVE 

 On or about January 3, 2018, JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABGREGO, a/k/a “Tuna,” and an 

unindicted co-conspirator traveled in interstate commerce from Los Angeles, California to Norfolk, 

Virginia, with intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, 

establishment and carrying on of an unlawful activity, said activity being a business enterprise 

involving distribution of cocaine, a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, 

United States Code, Sections 841 and 846, and thereafter performed and attempted to perform acts to 

promote, manage, carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, and carrying on of said unlawful 

activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2). 
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COUNT TWENTY-SIX 

 On or about January 4-5, 2018, JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABGREGO, a/k/a “Tuna,” and an 

unindicted co-conspirator traveled in interstate commerce from Norfolk, Virginia to Raleigh/Durham, 

North Carolina, then to Buffalo, New York, with intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on and 

facilitate the promotion, management, establishment and carrying on of an unlawful activity, said 

activity being a business enterprise involving distribution of cocaine, a Schedule II narcotic controlled 

substance, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841 and 846, and thereafter performed 

and attempted to perform acts to promote, manage, carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, 

and carrying on of said unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2). 
 
 

COUNT TWENTY-SEVEN 
 

On or about January 19, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, JOHNELL 

DESHAWN STEPNEY, did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 10.37 

grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, commonly known as 

“crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 
 

COUNT TWENTY-EIGHT 
 

On or about January 24, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, MAURICE 

ANTONIO BARNES, a/k/a “Reese,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute 

approximately 28.13 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a 

Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
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COUNT TWENTY-NINE 
 

On or about February 16, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, JOHNELL 

DESHAWN STEPNEY, did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 10.67 

grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, commonly known as 

“crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

 
COUNT THIRTY 

 
On or about March 1, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, JOHNELL 

DESHAWN STEPNEY, did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 20.50 

grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, commonly known as 

“crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

 
COUNT THIRTY-ONE 

 
On or about March 1, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, MAURICE 

ANTONIO BARNES, a/k/a “Reese,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute 

approximately 55.74 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a 

Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 
 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO 
 

On or about May 1, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, MAURICE 

ANTONIO BARNES, a/k/a “Reese,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute 
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approximately 53.36 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a 

Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 
 

COUNT THIRTY-THREE 
 

On or about May 4, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, JOHNELL 

DESHAWN STEPNEY, did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 26.92 

grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, commonly known as 

“crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

 
COUNT THIRTY-FOUR 

 
On or about May 15, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, BRANDON JAAMI 

WILLIAMS, a/k/a “B-Will,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 

27.97 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II 

narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 
 

COUNT THIRTY-FIVE 
 

On or about May 20, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, BRANDON JAAMI 

WILLIAMS, a/k/a “B-Will,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 

28.06 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I 

narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
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COUNT THIRTY-SIX 
 

On or about May 24, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, JOHNELL 

DESHAWN STEPNEY, did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 12.75 

grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, commonly known as 

“crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

COUNT THIRTY-SEVEN 
 

On or about May 25, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, BRANDON JAAMI 

WILLIAMS, a/k/a “B-Will,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 

53.3 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I narcotic 

controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 
 

COUNT THIRTY-EIGHT 
 

On or about June 1, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, MAURICE 

ANTONIO BARNES, a/k/a “Reese,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute 

approximately 27.61 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a 

Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

COUNT THIRTY-NINE 
 

On or about June 6, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, BRANDON JAAMI 

WILLIAMS, a/k/a “B-Will,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 

28.42 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of heroin and fentanyl, both 
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Schedule I narcotic controlled substances.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 

COUNT FORTY 
 

On or about June 8, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, BRANDON JAAMI 

WILLIAMS, a/k/a “B-Will,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally distribute approximately 

27.62 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of heroin and cyclopropyl 

fentanyl, both Schedule I narcotic controlled substances.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 
 

COUNT FORTY-ONE 
 

On or about June 13, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, BRANDON JAAMI 

WILLIAMS, a/k/a “B-Will,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to 

distribute approximately ½ ounce of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of heroin, 

a Schedule I narcotic controlled substance. 

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
 
 

COUNT FORTY-TWO 
 

On or about June 13, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, BRANDON JAAMI 

WILLIAMS, a/k/a “B-Will,” did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to 

distribute approximately 3.04 grams of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of 

cocaine base, commonly known as “crack cocaine,” a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance. 

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(C).) 
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COUNT FORTY-THREE 
 

On or about June 15, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, MAURICE 

WILLIAMS did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to distribute 

approximately 13.05 kilograms of cocaine of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount 

of cocaine, a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(A)(ii).) 
 

COUNT FORTY-FOUR 

 On or about June 28-29, 2018, ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO traveled in interstate 

commerce from San Diego, California to Norfolk, Virginia, with intent to promote, manage, establish, 

carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, establishment and carrying on of an unlawful 

activity, said activity being a business enterprise involving distribution of cocaine, a Schedule II 

narcotic controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841 and 846, and 

thereafter performed and attempted to perform acts to promote, manage, carry on and facilitate the 

promotion, management, and carrying on of said unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2). 

COUNT FORTY-FIVE 

 On or about June 29, 2018, JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABGREGO, a/k/a “Tuna,” and unindicted 

co-conspirator #6 traveled in interstate commerce from Los Angeles, California to Norfolk, Virginia, 

with intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, 

establishment and carrying on of an unlawful activity, said activity being a business enterprise involving 

distribution of cocaine, a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States 

Code, Sections 841 and 846, and thereafter performed and attempted to perform acts to promote, manage, 
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carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, and carrying on of said unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2). 

COUNT FORTY-SIX 

 On or about June 30, 2018, ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO, JOSE MOICES LUNA-

ABGREGO, a/k/a “Tuna,” and unindicted co-conspirator #6 traveled in interstate commerce from 

Norfolk, Virginia, to Los Angeles, California with intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on and 

facilitate the promotion, management, establishment and carrying on of an unlawful activity, said 

activity being a business enterprise involving distribution of cocaine, a Schedule II narcotic controlled 

substance, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841 and 846, and thereafter performed 

and attempted to perform acts to promote, manage, carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, 

and carrying on of said unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2). 

 

COUNT FORTY-SEVEN 

 On or about July 5-6, 2018, ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO and JOSE MOICES LUNA-

ABREGO, a/k/a “Tuna,” traveled in interstate commerce from Los Angeles, California to Norfolk, 

Virginia, with intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, 

establishment and carrying on of an unlawful activity, said activity being a business enterprise involving 

distribution of cocaine, a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States 

Code, Sections 841 and 846, and thereafter performed and attempted to perform acts to promote, manage, 

carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, and carrying on of said unlawful activity. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2). 
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COUNT FORTY-EIGHT 
 

On or about July 13, 2018, at Norfolk, in the Eastern District of Virginia, ULISES ABEL 

GARCIA-RAZO and JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally 

possess with intent to distribute approximately 8 kilograms of a mixture and substance containing a 

detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance.  

(In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) & (b)(1)(A)(ii)  
and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.) 

 
 

COUNT FORTY-NINE 

In or about the summer of 2018, at Virginia Beach, in the Eastern District of Virginia, the 

defendant, BRANDON JAAMI WILLIAMS, did knowingly and unlawfully possess a firearm, to wit: 

a Taurus 9mm semi-automatic pistol, in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime, that is, the drug 

trafficking crime described and set forth in Count One of this indictment which is incorporated by 

reference herein, and which crime constitutes an offense for which the defendant may be prosecuted in 

a court of the United States.  

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 924(c)(1)(A) and 2.) 

COUNT FIFTY 

In or about the summer of 2018, at Virginia Beach, within the Eastern District of Virginia, the 

defendant, BRANDON JAAMI WILLIAMS having previously been convicted of a crime punishable 

by imprisonment for a term exceeding one (1) year, did knowingly and unlawfully possess a firearm in 

and affecting commerce, to wit: a Taurus 9mm semi-automatic pistol, that firearm having previously 

been shipped and transported in interstate commerce. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1) and 924(a)(2).) 
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COUNTS FIFTY-ONE THROUGH NINETY-FIVE 
 
 On or about the dates and times set forth below, in the Eastern District of Virginia, the 

defendants, JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO, REGINALD SAM BEALE (a/k/a “Pootie”), 

MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (a/k/a “Reese”), BRANDON JAAMI WILLIAMS (a/k/a “B-Will”), 

KERRY JAY DARDEN and MAURICE WILLIAMS, as charged in the counts set forth below, did 

unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally use a communication facility, that is a telephone, in causing, 

committing and facilitating the commission of an act constituting a felony violation of Title 21 of the 

United States Code, including but not limited to, possessing controlled substances with intent to 

distribute and distributing controlled substances, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 

841, as charged in this indictment, and conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute 

controlled substances, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 846, as charged in this 

Indictment: 

Count Date Time Defendants Charged with using 
the Communication Facility 

Communication 
Facility Used 

Call Session 

51 October 24, 2017 17:46  KERRY JAY DARDEN (757) xxx-0679 41 

52 October 25, 2017 18:59 KERRY JAY DARDEN (757) xxx-0679 38 

53 October 26, 2017 5:15 KERRY JAY DARDEN (757) xxx-0679 31 

54 October 26, 2017 16:25 KERRY JAY DARDEN (757) xxx-0679 3 

55 October 26, 2017 16:52 KERRY JAY DARDEN (757) xxx-0679 1 

56 January 3, 2018 19:37-
22:24 

JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO (323) xxx-6082 Text msg 

57 January 4, 2018 3:40-
4:28 

JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO (323) xxx-6082 Text msg 
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Count Date  Time Defendants Charged with using 
the Communication Facility 

Communication 
Facility Used 

Call Session 

58 January 6, 2018 17:25-
23:23 

JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO (323) xxx-6082 Text msg 

59 April 23, 2018 20:13    MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
 

(757) xxx-7327 
 

111 

60 April 24, 2018 16:53 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
 

(757) xxx-7327 
 

438 

61 April 24, 2018 17:13 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
 

(757) xxx-7327 466 

62 April 25, 2018 13:33 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
REGINALD SAM BEALE  
 

(757) xxx-7327 743, 744, 
944 

63 April 26, 2018 16:04 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
 

(757) xxx-7327 1276 

64 April 26, 2018 16:17 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
 

(757) xxx-7327 1286 

65 April 26, 2018 16:37 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
BRANDON JAAMI WILLIAMS 

(757) xxx-7327 1304 

66 April 30, 3018 16:07 
 
 

MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 2009, 2022,  
2165 

67 April 30, 2018 20:22 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
 

(757) xxx-7327 2111 

68 April 30, 2018 21:22 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 2152 

69 May 2, 2018 11:29  MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
 

(757) xxx-7327 2786 

70 May 2, 2018 13:38 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 2845 

71 May 3, 2018 11:27 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 3143, 3198 

72 May 6, 2018 20:01 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 4539 

73 May 8, 2018 15:03 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
 

(757) xxx-7327 5072 

74 May 8, 2018 18:00 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 5170 
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Count Date   Time Defendants Charged with using 
the Communication Facility 

Communication 
Facility Used 

Call Session 

75 May 9, 2018 14:46 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 5478 

76 May 12, 2018 14:34 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 6428 

77 May 16, 2018 9:12 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 8193, 8404, 
8651, 8669 

78 May 17, 2018 17:45 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 9105 

79 May 17, 2018 19:50 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 9170 

80 May 22, 2018 20:00 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 10937 

81 May 23, 2018 8:28 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
 

(757) xxx-7327 
(410) xxx-7241 

29, 35, 
11149 

82 May 25, 2018 15:23 MAURICE WILLIAMS 
BRANDON JAAMI WILLIAMS 

(410) xxx-7241 149, 151 

83 May 30, 2018 9:07 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 13336 

84 May 30, 3018 8:50 MAURICE WILLIAMS (410) xxx-7241 13325, 
13327 

85 May 31, 2018 10:37 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES (757) xxx-7327 13864, 
13952 

86 June 7, 2018 11:09 MAURICE WILLIAMS (757) xxx-7327 483-86, 488 
490, 491 

87 June 8, 2018 11:15 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
MAURICE WILLIAMS 

(757) xxx-7327 
(410) xxx-7241 

16541 
16560-63 

88 June 8, 2018 15:44 JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO (757) xxx-1955 Jail call 
transcript 

89 June 10, 2018 21:30 MAURICE ANTONIO BARNES 
REGINALD SAM BEALE 

(757) xxx-7327 17522 

90 June 14, 2018 14:55 MAURICE WILLIAMS (410) xxx-7241 582, 586 

91 July 6, 2018 18:26 JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO 
ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO 

(757) xxx-1955 N-94 

92 July 11, 2018 12:18 JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO 
ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO 

(757) xxx-1955 N-110 
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Count Date   Time Defendants Charged with using 
the Communication Facility 

Communication 
Facility Used 

Call Session 

93 July 11, 2018 17:29 JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO 
ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO 

(757) xxx-1955 N-110 

94 July 12, 2018 12:56 JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO 
ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO 

(757) xxx-1955 N-111 

95 July 13, 2018 18:05 JOSE MOICES LUNA-ABREGO 
ULISES ABEL GARCIA-RAZO 

(757) xxx-1955 N-111 

 
(All in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 843(b) 

and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.) 
 

 
FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 

 THE GRAND JURY FURTHER ALLEGES AND FINDS PROBABLE CAUSE THAT: 
 

(1) The defendants, if convicted of any of the violations alleged in this indictment, shall forfeit 

to the United States, as part of the sentencing pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32.2, any 

firearm or ammunition involved in or used in the violation.  

(2) The defendants, if convicted of any of the violations alleged in Counts 2, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13 

and 18 of this indictment, shall forfeit to the United States, as part of the sentencing pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32.2, any property, real or personal, involved in the violation, or 

any property traceable to that property. 

(3) The defendants, if convicted of any of the violations alleged in Counts 3-7, 11, 14-17, 21-

24, 27-43, 48, 19, 20, 25, 26, and 44-47 of this indictment, shall forfeit to the United States, as part of 

the sentencing pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32.2, any property constituting, or 

derived from, any proceeds obtained, directly or indirectly, as the result of the violation. 

(4) The defendants, if convicted of any of the violations alleged in Counts 3-7, 11, 14-17, 21-

24, 27-43, and 48, of this indictment, shall forfeit to the United States, as part of the sentencing 
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pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32.2, any property used, or intended to be used, in any 

manner or part, to commit, or to facilitate the commission of, the violation. 

(5) If any property that is subject to forfeiture above, as a result of any act or omission of the 

defendant, (a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence, (b) has been transferred to, sold to, 

or deposited with a third party, (c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court, (d) has been 

substantially diminished in value, or (e) has been commingled with other property that cannot be 

divided without difficulty, it is the intention of the United States to seek forfeiture of any other 

property of the defendant, as subject to forfeiture under Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

(6) The property subject to forfeiture includes, but is not limited to the following property: 

a.   A monetary judgement in the amount of at least $19,517,230.00, which 
represents the proceeds of Title 21 offenses; 

 
b. $4,653 United States currency seized in Virginia Beach on January 24, 2018; 
 
c. Rolex watch seized in Norfolk on June 15, 2018; 
 
d. Earring seized in Norfolk on June 15, 2018; 
 
e. $39,320 United States currency seized in Norfolk on June 15, 2018; 
 
f. $16,980 seized in Norfolk on July 10, 2018; 
 
g. $40,000 United States currency seized in Norfolk on July 11, 2018; 
 
h. $8,000 United States currency seized in Norfolk on July 18, 2018; and 
 
i. $9,970 United States currency seized in Norfolk on July 18, 2018. 
 
 

(In accordance with Title 21, United States Code, Section 853; Title 18,  
United States Code, Sections 924(d)(1), 981(a)(1)(C), and 982(a)(1); and  

Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).) 
 

 

 



 

 
77 

United States v. Ulises Abel Garcia-Razo, et al  
Criminal No. 2:18-cr-_____ 
 
 
 

A TRUE BILL: 
 
 

_________________________________ 
F O R E P E R S O N 

 
 

G. ZACHARY TERWILLIGER 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

 
 
By: _______________________________ 

Sherrie S. Capotosto 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Virginia State Bar No. 33127 
Office of the United States Attorney 
101 W. Main Street, Suite 8000 
Norfolk, Virginia 23510    
Tel: (757) 441-6331 
Fax: (757) 441-6689 
Sherrie.Capotosto@usdoj.gov 

 


